
      

Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021  
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk

18 July 2022

Committee Council

Date Tuesday, 26 July 2022

Time of Meeting 6:00 pm

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices, 
Severn Room

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL ARE REQUESTED 
TO ATTEND

Agenda

1.  ANNOUNCEMENTS

1. When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building 
by the nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should 
proceed to the visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await 
further instructions (during office hours staff should proceed to their 
usual assembly point; outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ 
car park). Please do not re-enter the building unless instructed to do 
so. 

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted 
in leaving the building.  

2. To receive any announcements from the Chair of the Meeting and/or 
the Chief Executive.

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

mailto:memberservices@tewkesburybc.gov.uk


Item Page(s)

2

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the 
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July 
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare any 
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the 
approved Code applies.

4.  MINUTES 1 - 17

To approve the Minutes of the meetings held on 10 and 17 May 2022 and 
the Extraordinary Meeting held on 8 June 2022. 

5.  ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

a) To receive any questions, deputations or petitions submitted under 
Council Rule of Procedure.12. 

(The deadline for public participation submissions for this meeting is 
20 July 2022).

b) To receive any petitions submitted under the Council’s Petitions 
Scheme.

6.  MEMBER QUESTIONS PROPERLY SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

To receive any questions submitted under Rule of Procedure 13. Any 
items received will be circulated on Monday 25 July 2022.

(Any questions must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services by, 
not later than, 10.00am on Monday 18 July 2022).

7.  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Council is asked to consider and determine recommendations of a 
policy nature arising from the Executive Committee as follows:- 

(a) Interim Medium Term Financial Strategy 18 - 33

At its meeting on 1 June 2022, the Executive Committee considered 
the interim Medium Term Financial Strategy and RECOMMENDED 
TO COUNCIL that it be ADOPTED.  

(b) Council Plan 2020/24 Refresh 34 - 56

At its meeting on 1 June 2022, the Executive Committee considered 
the Council Plan 2020/24 refresh and RECOMMENDED TO 
COUNCIL that it be ADOPTED.  



Item Page(s)

3

8.  AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 57 - 67

To consider the Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report 
2021/22. 

A verbal update on the outcome of the Audit and Governance 
Committee’s consideration of the annual report will be provided at the 
meeting.

Recording of Meetings 

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of 
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic 
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Mayor will take reasonable 
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with. 

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers, 
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting 
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting. 

Head of Democratic Services for 
Corporate Director



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Council held at Tewkesbury Abbey on                                 
Tuesday, 10 May 2022 commencing at 7:00 pm and reconvened at the Council 

Offices, Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 17 May 2022 at 6:00 pm

Present:

The Worshipful the Mayor Councillor A S Reece
Deputy Mayor Councillor J W Murphy

and Councillors:

K Berliner, R A Bird, G J Bocking, C M Cody, K J Cromwell, M Dean, R D East, P A Godwin,                     
M A Gore, D W Gray, M L Jordan, J R Mason, H C McLain, P D McLain, J K Smith, V D Smith, 

C Softley, P D Surman, M G Sztymiak, S Thomson, R J E Vines, M J Williams and                                
P N Workman 

CL.1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G F Blackwell, J H Evetts,           
C L J Carter, D J Harwood, E J MacTiernan, C Mills, J Mills, H C Munro,                                 
P W Ockelton, C Reid, P E Smith, R J G Smith and R J Stanley. 

CL.2 ELECTION OF MAYOR 

2.1 With the retiring Mayor, Councillor Andrew Reece, in the chair, it was proposed by 
Councillor Jim Mason and seconded by Councillor David Gray, that Councillor John 
Murphy be, and is hereby elected, Mayor of the Borough of Tewkesbury for the 
ensuing Municipal Year. 

2.2 On the Motion being put to the meeting it was declared to be carried, whereupon the 
Mayor took the chair, signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office and took the 
Oath of Allegiance to Her Majesty the Queen.  

2.3 In thanking Members for the honour and privilege of being elected Mayor of the 
Borough of Tewkesbury, Councillor Murphy announced that his Chaplain would be 
Canon Reverend Paul Williams of Tewkesbury Abbey and his Mayoress would be 
his wife, Anne. He indicated that he was delighted to reveal the organisations to be 
supported by his charity fund for the year would be WAM (We all Matter) Youth 
which was a voluntary organisation based in Winchcombe that encouraged young 
people to be confident in their identity and build resilience for life. It ran a variety of 
projects and services aimed at building and strengthening positive and supportive 
relationships within the community including youth groups and projects, mentoring, 
outdoor education and after school clubs; and Sue Ryder Hospice – Leckhampton 
which was a very well-known hospice locally that supported people and their 
families through the most difficult times giving compassion and care to help them 
live the best life they possibly could. 

2.4 The Mayor indicated that he and his Mayoress were looking forward to representing 
the Council at events across the Borough and would enjoy meeting and engaging 
with people from all areas. He undertook to perform the important role of Mayor to 
the very best of his ability. 

1

Agenda Item 4



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

CL.3 RETIRING MAYOR - COUNCILLOR ANDREW REECE 

3.1 Councillor Rob Bird expressed the Council’s thanks to Councillor Reece for his 
service to the Borough. The role of Mayor was quite onerous with the number of 
events but Councillor Reece had taken to his duties with enthusiasm, humour and 
gravitas. Councillor Bird felt Councillor Reece had been a wonderful ambassador for 
the Borough thanks to his natural desire to engage. Despite the strange 12 months 
of difficulties meaning a number of normal events and duties had not taken place he 
knew Councillor Reece had still thoroughly enjoyed his time as Mayor and the 
Council had benefited from the way he had championed the Borough. 

3.2 Councillor Reece thanked Councillor Bird for his words of thanks and expressed 
what a privilege it had been to be Mayor, despite the best efforts of a global 
pandemic. He had enjoyed attending the wide variety of events he had been invited 
to and meeting the people who worked passionately for the Borough. He had 
thoroughly enjoyed welcoming back the Mop Fair to Tewkesbury and attending 
events such as the ARRC Christmas Carol service and dinner with the Honourable 
Company of Gloucestershire; however, it was the local events which he would 
treasure the most such as reopening the Post Office in the village in which he had 
grown up, reopening a local elderly persons care home, judging the fancy dress at a 
local village fete and reopening the local pub. The organisations his charity fund had 
supported during the year were Scoo-B-Doo and Severn Area Rescue Association 
(SARA) and he hoped to be able to advise them of the funds he had raised shortly. 

3.3 Finally, Councillor Reece advised that Reverend Wendy Ruffle’s time as the 
Borough Mayor’s Chaplain had come to an end as she had announced her intention 
to retire. He thanked her for the many years she had undertaken the role for the 
Council – actually since 2013 with a one-year break - and indicated what a  
pleasure it had been for him, and the Mayors before him, to have had her as their 
Chaplain.  He offered his thanks on behalf of the Council and presented a gift and 
bouquet of flowers as a small token of the Council’s thanks and best wishes for her 
future endeavours, wherever they may take her.

3.4 The Worshipful the Mayor, Councillor John Murphy, presented Councillor Andrew 
Reece with a Past Mayor’s Badge and the Mayor’s Officer presented Mrs Murphy 
with the Mayoress’ Badge of Office. 

CL.4 APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR 

4.1 It was proposed by Councillor Rob Bird, and seconded by Councillor Bob East, that 
Councillor Andrew Reece be, and is hereby appointed, Deputy Mayor of the 
Borough of Tewkesbury for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

4.2 The Motion was put to the meeting and was carried. 
4.3 Councillor Reece expressed thanks to his fellow Councillors for their support and 

indicated that he looked forward to supporting the Mayor during the year. 
4.4 Councillor Reece accepted the Mayor’s Badge of Office and signed the Declaration 

of Acceptance of Office.  
4.5 Flowers were presented to the new Mayoress and to Mrs Reece who had been a 

great support to Councillor Reece during time as Mayor. 

CL.5 ADJOURNMENT 

5.1 Upon the Motion of the Mayor, the meeting of the Council stood adjourned until 
Tuesday 17 May 2022 at 6.00pm.   

CL.6 RESUMPTION 

2



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

6.1 The meeting then resumed in the Severn Room of the Tewkesbury Borough 
Council Offices, Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday 17 May 2022, when 
the attendance was as follows:     

Present:

The Worshipful the Mayor Councillor J W Murphy
Deputy Mayor Councillor A S Reece

and Councillors:

K Berliner, R A Bird, G F Blackwell, G J Bocking, C L J Carter, K J Cromwell, R D East,                           
J H Evetts, P A Godwin, M A Gore, D W Gray, D J Harwood, M L Jordan, E J MacTiernan,                       

J R Mason, H C McLain, C E Mills, H S Munro, P W Ockelton, C Reid, J K Smith, P E Smith,                 
R J G Smith, V D Smith, R J Stanley, P D Surman, M G Sztymiak, S Thomson, R J E Vines and 

M J Williams 

CL.7 ANNOUNCEMENTS 

7.1 The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.

CL.8 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

8.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors C M Cody, M Dean,                               
P D McLain and C Softley. 

CL.9 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

9.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from               
1 July 2012. 

9.2 There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 

CL.10 MINUTES 

10.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 April 2022, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Mayor.  

CL.11 ITEMS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

11.1 There were no items from members of the public. 

CL.12 MEMBER QUESTIONS PROPERLY SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 

12.1 There were no Member questions.  

3



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

CL.13 ELECTION OF LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

13.1 Upon being proposed and seconded, it was
RESOLVED That Councillor R A Bird be elected as Leader of the Council, 

and therefore Chair of the Executive Committee, for the 
ensuing Municipal Year.  

CL.14 ELECTION OF DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

14.1 Upon being proposed and seconded, it was
RESOLVED That Councillor J R Mason be elected as Deputy Leader of the 

Council, and therefore Vice-Chair of the Executive Committee, 
for the ensuing Municipal Year.  

CL.15 MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

Membership of Committees 2022/23 

15.1 Upon being proposed and seconded, it was
RESOLVED That the following Committee Memberships be AGREED:

Executive (11)

Rob Bird 
Gill Blackwell
Mike Dean 
Mel Gore
Deborah Harwood
Elaine MacTiernan
Jim Mason 
Clare Softley
Richard Stanley
Mike Sztymiak
Robert Vines 

Licensing Committee (15)

Keja Berliner
Gill Blackwell 
Graham Bocking 
Craig Carter
Pauline Godwin
David Gray
Elaine MacTiernan 
John Murphy
Paul Ockelton
Chrissy Reid
Richard Smith
Clare Softley
Richard Stanley
Mike Sztymiak
Mark Williams

4



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

Planning (19) 

Rob Bird
Gill Blackwell
Bob East
John Evetts
Mel Gore
Deborah Harwood
Mary Jordan
Elaine MacTiernan
Jim Mason
Jason Mills 
Paul Ockelton
Andrew Reece
Jill Smith
Paul Smith
Richard Smith
Philip Surman
Robert Vines
Mark Williams
Philip Workman

Overview and Scrutiny (15) 

Keja Berliner
Graham Bocking
Craig Carter
Kevin Cromwell
Pauline Godwin
Heather McLain
Paul McLain
Charlotte Mills 
Helen Munro
John Murphy
Jill Smith
Richard Smith
Scott Thomson
Mark Williams
Philip Workman

Standards Committee (7)

Cate Cody
Mike Dean 
Charlotte Mills 
John Murphy
Chrissy Reid
Paul Smith
Philip Surman

Audit and Governance (9)

Cate Cody
Pauline Godwin
David Gray
Heather McLain 
Jason Mills
Helen Munro
Paul Smith
Vernon Smith 

Horsford Trust Management Committee

(Committee of Councillors representing the Tewkesbury 
Wards)

Cate Cody
Kevin Cromwell
Chrissy Reid
Vernon Smith 
Mike Sztymiak 
Philip Workman

Employee Appeals Committee 
(any 5 from 8)

Rob Bird
Gill Blackwell 
Jim Mason 
Paul McLain
Andrew Reece
Clare Softley 
Philip Surman 
Mark Williams

5



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

Employee Appointments/Disciplinary Committee (5)

Kevin Cromwell 
Mike Dean 
Mel Gore
Elaine MacTiernan 
Robert Vines 

 
Membership of Panels and Liaison Groups 

15.2 Upon being proposed and seconded, it was
RESOLVED That the following memberships of Panels and Liaison Groups 

be AGREED:

COUNTY GROUPS 

Gloucestershire 
Police and Crime 
Panel

1 + 
reserve

D W Gray
R A Bird (Reserve)

Pensions Committee 
(* District Councils 
appointment) 

1 D W Gray 

SHARED SERVICE JOINT MONITORING GROUPS

Shared Legal 
Services Joint 
Monitoring and 
Liaison Group 

2 + 2 
substitutes

Lead Member (Corporate 
Governance) 
E J MacTiernan 
M A Gore (substitute) 
H C McLain (substitute)

Shared Building 
Control Joint 
Monitoring and 
Liaison Group 

2 Lead Member (Built 
Environment) 
R D East 

 
Outside Bodies 2022/23 

15.3 Upon being proposed and seconded, it was 
RESOLVED           That the following Outside Bodies representation be 

 AGREED:

A46 Member Partnership V D Smith

A48 Meeting J K Smith

Ambulance Trust (observer) Vacant  

Cleeve Common Trust R D East 

Cotswolds National Landscape 
Conservation Board

M Dean 

COVID-19 Health Protection Leader of the Council 

6



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

Board – Member Engagement 
Board 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

District Councils Network Leader of the Council 

Gloucester and District Citizens’ 
Advice Bureau

C Softley 

Gloucestershire Airport 
Consultative Committee

M J Williams 

Gloucestershire Health and 
Care NHS Foundation Trust 
(formerly 2gether NHS 
Foundation Trust) (observer)

J K Smith 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (observer)

G J Bocking 

Gloucestershire Playing Fields 
Association

M A Gore 

Leadership Gloucestershire 
(plus 1 reserve)

Leader of the Council 
Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

Local Government Association Leader of the Council 
* should the Leader of the 
Council be unable to attend the 
Annual Local Government 
Association Conference in any 
year, authority will be delegated 
to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader, to 
appoint a representative to 
attend. 

Lower Severn (2005) Internal 
Drainage Board

M J Williams 

Parking and Traffic Regulations 
Outside London (PATROL) 
Adjudication Joint Committee

K J Cromwell 
J R Mason 

Prior’s Park Neighbourhood 
Project

Ward Members for 
Tewkesbury South 

Roses Theatre Trust (observer) A S Reece

South West Councils Leader of the Council + 
deputy – Mike Dean

South West Councils – 
Employers Panel 

M Dean 

Tewkesbury Community Safety 
Partnership 

Lead Member 
(Community) + 1

7



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

M L Jordan

Tewkesbury District Twinning 
Association Management 
Committee

K J Cromwell 

Tewkesbury Leisure Centre 
Partnership Board 

Lead Member (Health and 
Wellbeing) 
Lead Member (Finance 
and Asset Management) 

Tewkesbury Regeneration 
Partnership 

Lead Member (Economic 
Development/Promotion) 
+ 2 
E J MacTiernan 
P N Workman 

Winchcombe Sports Hall 
Management Committee

J W Murphy 

 
Chairs and Vice-Chairs, County Council Health and Care Scrutiny Committee 
and Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee 

15.4 The main Committees set out in Paragraph 15.1 took place to elect a Chair and 
Vice-Chair. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee also elected representatives to 
the County Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee.  Accordingly, it was
RESOLVED          1. That the Chairs and Vice-Chairs for each Committee be 

AGREED as follows:
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Chair – Councillor J W Murphy
Vice-Chair – Councillor K Berliner 
Audit & Governance Committee 
Chair– Councillor V D Smith
Vice-Chair – Councillor H C McLain
Planning Committee 
Chair – Councillor J H Evetts
Vice-Chair – Councillor R D East
Licensing Committee 
Chair – Councillor G J Bocking
Vice-Chair – Councillor E J MacTiernan
Standards Committee 
Chair – Councillor P D Surman
Vice-Chair – Councillor M Dean

2. That Councillor J K Smith be the Council’s nominated 
representative on the County Council’s Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and that Councillor K Berliner be the 

8



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

reserve.
3. That Councillor J W Murphy be the Council’s nominated 
    representative on the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
    Scrutiny Committee and that Councillor K J Cromwell be the 
    reserve.   

CL.16 LOCAL HERITAGE LIST SELECTION CRITERIA FOR TEWKESBURY 
BOROUGH SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT 

16.1 The report of the Planning Policy Manager, circulated at Pages No. 16-33, attached 
the Local Heritage List Selection Criteria for Tewkesbury Borough Supplementary 
Planning Document which Members were asked to adopt with immediate effect. 

16.2 In proposing the recommendation, the Lead Member for Built Environment 
explained that the purpose of the Supplementary Planning Document was to 
establish a robust and standardised procedure for nominating to the local list with 
the significance of heritage assets on the list being taken into account. This was a 
national initiative which was being funded by the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities. The document had already been considered by the 
Executive Committee which had recommended that it be adopted by the Council, 
subject to no substantive comments being made during the consultation process. 
No substantive comments had been received during the public consultation so the 
document was before the Council for adoption. It was also recommended that 
authority be delegated to the Head of Development Services to make any 
necessary final corrections and minor amendments to the draft Supplementary 
Planning Document to enable it to be published in final form. Under that delegation, 
a minor revision to the wording on Page No. 3 of the Supplementary Planning 
Document would be made to make it clear that the responsibility for all local 
heritage list matters would be delegated to the Head of Development Services. 

16.3 During the discussion which ensued, a Member suggested that some of the pictures 
of the Borough within the document were not particularly flattering and he asked if 
any of them could be changed. In response, the Lead Member indicated that the 
photographs had been submitted as part of the process but Officers could look 
through and see if any changes could be made. She felt it was important to note the 
amazing amount of work that Parishes and members of the public had put into their 
submissions to the list and she thanked them for their efforts. She also noted that, 
whilst not all heritage assets were pretty, they were still important. Referring to Page 
No. 7 of the document, a Member noted that the metal bridge in Norton was actually 
in Northway and Ashchurch Rural so that needed to be amended. There was some 
discussion about the assets on the list which were in a state of untidiness or 
disrepair and Members were advised that the Council did not have a responsibility 
to maintain any of the assets as they were usually in private ownership – their 
addition to the list signified that people felt they were important but they were not the 
Council’s assets. A Member questioned whether Parishes would be asked to review 
the list annually to see if any assets needed to be added. In response, the Lead 
Member indicated that Parish Councils were aware of the list and that it could be 
added to at any time. 

16.4 Having been proposed and seconded, it was 
RESOLVED 1. That it be NOTED that no substantive comments had been 

    received in response to the public consultation on the draft 
    Supplementary Planning Document: Local Heritage List 
    Selection Criteria for Tewkesbury Borough or the related 
    Consultation Statement. 
2. That the draft Supplementary Planning Document be 
    ADOPTED with immediate effect in accordance with the 

9



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

    resolution of the Executive Committee on 2 March 2022. 
3. That authority be delegated to the Head of Development 
    Services to make any necessary final corrections and minor 
    amendments to the draft Supplementary Planning Document 
    to enable the document to be published in final form 
   including amendment to show a delegation to the Head of 
   Development Services for all matters relating to the local 
   heritage list. 

CL.17 COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - FINAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

17.1 The report of the Community Governance Review Working Group, circulated at 
Pages No. 34-67, set out the final recommendations of the Working Group which 
Members were asked to approve.  

17.2 The Chair of the Community Governance Review Working Group indicated that it 
had been 20 years since the last Parish review and changes as a result of the 
Tewksbury (Electoral Changes) Order 2018 (Review of Borough Wards) and the 
extensive level of development in the Borough had necessitated that a full 
Community Governance Review (CGR) of the Borough’s Parishes be undertaken. 
In June 2021, the Executive Committee had agreed to undertake a Boroughwide 
CGR, had approved the Terms of Reference and established a Working Group to 
undertake the review. The Terms of Reference covered the scope of the review 
which included alteration of boundaries and the number of Parish Councillors. Initial 
consultation had taken place from 15 June to 15 September 2021 which involved a 
wide range of individuals and groups being invited to make submissions including 
MPs, County and Borough Councillors, political parties, Parish Councils and the 
public via social media and website advertising. 23 submissions had been received 
and considered in detail by the Working Group which had then prepared draft 
recommendations that had been endorsed by the Executive Committee on 5 
January 2022 and released for public consultation between 3 February and 31 
March 2022. Again, all Members were included in the consultation on the draft 
recommendations as well as those groups, organisations, individuals etc. that were 
consulted at the initial stage. In response to the draft recommendations, 10 
submissions were received from Parish/Town Councils / Parish Meetings, 68 from 
members of the public, local residents and organisations together with a petition 
containing 135 signatories.  The Chair drew particular attention to a couple of 
matters together with a few amendments to be included in the draft 
recommendations as follows: 

 Section 5.4.1 to be amended to ensure the view of the Parish Council was 
accurately represented as it had stated that in its submission regarding the Draft 
Recommendations (31 March 2022) that the Council had not expressed support 
for the draft recommendation – amended from:
“It was acknowledged that there was support for, and some opposition to, the 
draft recommendations, although on balance more support was received to 
split Dumbleton and Wormington and that this view was shared by Dumbleton 
Parish Council”.
to
“It was acknowledged that there was support for, and some opposition to, the 
draft recommendations, although on balance more support was received to 
split Dumbleton and Wormington. Dumbleton Parish Council submitted no 
objection to the draft recommendation based on the letters of 
representation it had received from parishioners”. 

 The second amendment was to add a final recommendation as follows:-

10



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

“All other Parishes – the boundaries of all other Parishes to remain unchanged”. 
In terms of the recommendations of specific note, he referred to Recommendation 
4.4.2 – in relation to Coopers Edge – and explained that this was considered very 
carefully by the Working Group on at least three occasions, and it had a specific 
meeting to consider the matter. The Working Group was unanimously of the view 
that a Coopers Edge Parish Council made up of the areas within the Borough will 
not be beneficial to the residents. It wholeheartedly supported a Coopers Edge 
Parish Council made up of the three areas of Coopers Edge, which included the 
area in Stroud, but this was outside the remit of the Working Group and would 
require a principle area review. Two parts of an area made up of three parts would 
not work and it would be better for residents to wait for this to be achieved in the 
future. Secondly, Recommendation 6.4.4 – changes to the boundary between 
Longford and Sandhurst - there had been a significant public response to the draft 
recommendation that the land between the A40 and the existing Longford Parish 
boundary, comprising the community of Walham, be transferred to the Parish of 
Sandhurst. There was no community support for this recommendation and there 
was, in fact, significant opposition on the grounds that the area of Walham was 
closer to Longford, there being no ties between the residents of Walham and 
Sandhurst, the draft recommendation offering no greater community identity for the 
residents of Walham, that there was a physical disconnect between Sandhurst and 
Walham during periods of flooding, and that Sandhurst was a rural community 
lacking facilities/amenities to accommodate additional numbers but Longford had 
resources and infrastructure to support the community of Walham. The Working 
Group’s final recommendation was therefore to leave the boundary between 
Sandhurst and Longford unchanged.

17.3 In terms of the next steps, any consequential amendments to Borough Wards and 
the four Parishes of Bishops Cleeve, Brockworth, Churchdown and Tewkesbury 
needed to be approved by the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England and, in order for everything to be in place for the 2023 elections, the 
changes had to be submitted by June. Any changes in the recommendations before 
Members tonight would require further consultation and would either need to be 
dealt with separately or, if the whole review was sent back, would not be 
implemented until the local elections in 2027. The Working Group Chair proposed 
that the final recommendations in relation to each Parish/Town Council within the 
Borough of Tewkesbury be approved as set out at Appendix 1 including the two 
amendments suggested in relation to Paragraph 5.4.1 to clarify the position of 
Dumbleton Parish Council and an additional recommendation in relation to no 
changes to the boundaries of all other parishes in the Borough and that the 
Corporate Director be authorised to request the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England (LGBCE) to make related alteration orders to change 
Borough Wards and County Divisions to reflect the changes made to Parish 
Boundaries including those Parishes protected as part of the last review forming 
part of the Tewkesbury (Electoral Changes) Order 2018; and, subject to receiving 
the necessary consents from the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England, to make a Reorganisation of Community Governance Order to implement 
the changes agreed by Council. The proposal was seconded. 

17.4 A Member referred to Bishops Cleeve Parish Council and advised that it was 
concerned about the boundary next to Gotherington and why it would not be moved 
as well as why the site known as North Cleevelands was not included as, in their 
view, it put the site at greater risk of being developed. In response, the Chair of the 
Working Group explained that he could not say how secure a site was going forward 
but it was not within the Borough Plan and, as such, not seen to be a major issue. In 
addition, schools were very separate in their boundaries from Parishes - the 
information was all contained within the report at Paragraphs 3.2-3.4 and the 
Working Group had nothing to add. A number of Members raised concerns about 
the area of Coopers Edge not having its own Parish Council and how the divisions 

11



CL.10.05.22 & 17.05.22

in the area could be overcome. In response, the Chair of the Working Group 
explained that the Working Group had recognised that Coopers Edge had its own 
identity and understood that the issue needed to be looked at as a whole; however 
this was not the remit of the current review. There had been very little feedback from 
Coopers Edge residents to the consultation compared to other areas. The main 
issue was that the infrastructure was located within Stroud District and it made no 
sense to make a Parish Council out of the two residential areas in Tewkesbury 
Borough if the community would have no infrastructure. 

17.5 Having been proposed and seconded, it was 
RESOLVED 1. That the final recommendations in relation to each 

    Parish/Town Council within the Borough of Tewkesbury be 
    APPROVED as set out in Appendix 1 to the report subject to 
    the following amendments: 

a. Paragraph 5.4.1 to clarify the position of Dumbleton 
Parish Council.

b. An additional recommendation in relation to no 
changes to the boundaries of all other parishes in the 
Borough. 

 2.   That the Corporate Director be authorised to:
a. Request the Local Government Boundary 

     Commission for England to make related alteration 
    orders to change Borough Wards and County 
    Divisions to reflect the changes made to Parish 
    boundaries, including those Parishes protected as 
    part of the last review forming part of the Tewkesbury 
    (Electoral Changes) Order 2018. 
b. Subject to receiving the necessary consents from the 
    Local Government Boundary Commission for 
    England, to make a Reorganisation of Community 
    Governance Order to implement the changes agreed 
    by the Council.

CL.18 MAYOR OF TEWKESBURY'S APPEAL FUND 

18.1 It was proposed, seconded and 
RESOLVED That Councillors M A Gore, E J MacTiernan and J R Mason be 

appointed as Trustees of the Mayor of Tewkesbury’s Appeal 
Fund for 2022/23. 

The meeting closed at 7:00 pm

12



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of an Extraordinary meeting of the Council held at the 
Council Offices, Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Wednesday, 8 June 2022 

commencing at 6:00 pm

Present:

The Worshipful the Mayor Councillor J W Murphy
Deputy Mayor Councillor A S Reece

and Councillors:

K Berliner, R A Bird, G J Bocking, C L J Carter, C M Cody, K J Cromwell, M Dean, R D East,                              
P A Godwin, D W Gray, D J Harwood, M L Jordan, E J MacTiernan, J R Mason, H C McLain,                  

P D McLain, C E Mills, J P Mills, C Reid, J K Smith, P E Smith, V D Smith, C Softley,                                   
R J Stanley, P D Surman, M G Sztymiak, S Thomson, M J Williams and P N Workman 

CL.19 ANNOUNCEMENTS 

19.1 The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.
19.2 The Mayor advised that he had attended the start of stage three of the Tour of 

Britain cycle race that morning, along with other Members and the Town Mayor, it 
had been a great event and a fantastic advert for Tewkesbury Town, the Borough 
and Gloucestershire. 

CL.20 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

20.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G F Blackwell, M A Gore,                     
H S Munro, P W Ockelton, R J G Smith and R J E Vines. 

CL.21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

21.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from                
1 July 2012. 

21.2 There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 

CL.22 TEWKESBURY BOROUGH PLAN - REPORT OF THE INSPECTOR AND 
ADOPTION OF THE PLAN 

22.1 The Mayor reminded Members of the rules of debate and indicated that he would be 
adhering to them throughout the meeting. 

22.2 The report of the Interim Planning Policy Manager, circulated at Pages No. 1-314, 
recommended that Members formally adopt the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-
2031, incorporating the Inspector’s recommended Main Modifications, so that it 
formed part of the Statutory Development Plan for Tewkesbury Borough. 

22.3 In introducing the report, the Interim Planning Policy Manager was pleased to bring 
the Borough Plan to the Council which was the culmination of many months and 
years of work involving a large number of Councillors and Officers, extensive 
evidence gathering, public consultation and public examination. The recent receipt 
of the Inspector’s report had found the Borough Plan to be sound subject to a 

13



CL.08.06.22

number of Main Modifications and could now be formally adopted. This was the 
reason for the report to Council. On adoption, the Borough Plan would form part of 
the two-part development plan in the area along with the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 
which set out the strategic policy and allocations for Tewkesbury, Cheltenham and 
Gloucester. The Borough Plan looked at the non-strategic allocations (consistent 
with the JCS) and a number of policies which were locally distinctive. The 
Independent Examination had been rigorous, with 12 sitting days, and had 
concluded in March 2021. It had encompassed matters of housing, employment, 
settlement boundaries, gypsies and travellers, landscape matters etc. The role of 
the Inspector was not to look at individual objections but to consider the overall 
“soundness” of the plan, including whether it had been positively prepared, had 
been accompanied by a sustainability appraisal, was consistent with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and had been prepared in cooperation with 
neighbouring Councils. At the conclusion of the public hearings, the Inspector had 
submitted an informal conclusion that the Plan was unsound but could be made 
sound by Main Modifications. Some plans were found to be so defective that they 
could not even be made sound with modifications so this was good news for the 
Council, especially given the relatively few Main Modifications required. The Council 
had considered the Main Modifications in November 2021 and formal consultation 
had concluded in January 2022 with all responses being sent straight to the 
Inspector to consider in his final analysis. The Inspector had confirmed that, with 
very minor changes to the Modifications, the Plan could proceed to adoption. All key 
documents in the pack were included in the Council report: the report of the 
Inspector, the list of Main Modifications required, the Schedule of Additional 
Modifications, the policies map and the sustainability appraisal adoption statement. 
The Interim Planning Policy Manager suggested it was important to reflect on how 
vital it was that the Borough Plan should be adopted as it had a particular status 
once adopted, alongside the Neighbourhood Development Plans when they were 
‘made’. In recommending the Plan be adopted, he felt it was worth remembering 
that the Inspector’s list of Modifications must be accepted or rejected as a whole 
and it was not within the Council’s gift to pick out or add its own changes. 

22.4 In proposing the recommendation, the Leader of the Council indicated that all 
Members were aware of the considerable demand for housing within the Borough 
and the pressure from developers on that land meaning there was a significant need 
for the Plan to be adopted. The current Plan was the result of hard work over the 
last five years (two Council terms) between Members and Officers. He indicated that 
the list of Modifications was not too significant compared to some, which was an 
accolade to all who had worked on it. There was now a need to adopt the Borough 
Plan in order to gain security for the Council against unwanted development. In 
seconding the proposal, the Chair of the Borough Plan Working Group advised that 
every Member had had the opportunity to attend the meetings of the Working Group 
and the Plan was the culmination of the work undertaken by that Group. 

22.5 A Member queried that, if work had begun on the Borough Plan in 2013 and it ran 
until 2031, when would the Council have to start on the next Borough Plan. She also 
questioned whether adoption would give the Council a five-year housing land 
supply. The Interim Planning Policy Manager explained that it was the nature of the 
system that Plans were reviewed every five years or so – the JCS was currently the 
subject of a review so, in time, the Borough Plan would need to be reviewed and 
updated to accord with that. The start date did not affect the currency of the Plan. 
The adoption of the Plan was an essential stage of demonstrating a five-year land 
supply which was reported on an annual basis. In addition to adopting the Plan, it 
would be necessary for Officers to update figures relating to planning permissions, 
lapses, starts and completions in the current year, as well as confirming realistic 
build-out trajectories with site promoters to get a full picture of housing land supply. 
Adoption of the Plan did not in itself mean the Council had a five-year supply; 
however, Officers were as confident as they could be that would be the outcome 

14



CL.08.06.22

after the calculations had been completed. 
22.6 Referring to MM46 – removal of the Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust reserve – a 

Member noted that Appendix 3 talked about nature conservation sites and he was 
of the view that, in Tewkesbury, the Mythe Railway needed to be protected. In 
response, the Interim Planning Policy Manager advised that he did not have the 
information to hand but he would investigate it. If the deletion arose from a factual 
error in compiling the Council report version of the Main Modifications Schedule, it 
could be corrected under the delegation. In any event, its status as a local wildlife 
site would be a matter of fact and would not be determined by its inclusion or 
otherwise in the Appendix to the Local Plan. The Member also questioned whether, 
based on experience, Officers were able to say how likely it was that a developer 
would lodge a legal challenge against adoption of the Plan. In response, the Interim 
Planning Policy Manager explained that the provision was there for challenge within 
six weeks but this would only be successful if it related to an error in law rather than 
someone not liking something that was in it. There had been no indication from 
anyone that they planned to challenge but it was not something that could be ruled 
out. One Member expressed concern that the wording in the Borough Plan in 
relation to the climate change emergency could be misleading as the Plan applied 
to the whole of the Borough and it could therefore be inferred that the Borough’s 
declaration had been amended to also apply to the whole Borough rather than just 
the Council’s own buildings. In response, the Chief Executive clarified that the 
Council had passed a motion to declare a climate emergency and that related to the 
Council’s estate – work was ongoing on that through the Climate Change and Flood 
Risk Management Group and then through Council. The Borough Plan related to 
the whole of the Borough and the policies in that, as amended with the Main 
Modifications, meant it complied with all national guidance. The situation with the 
Council’s climate change motion had not changed. There was a relationship 
between the two but the Borough Plan set out the policies that were needed to 
comply with national guidance as well as local policies. In addition, the Interim 
Planning Policy Manager advised that the Council obviously wanted to do all it could 
to help address the national climate change strategy and the policies in the Borough 
Plan were designed with that in mind. The policies were supported by Reasoned 
Justification which provided contextual information for the policies related to climate 
change. Whilst this helpfully noted the Council’s declaration as relevant background 
information, the Local Plan was concerned with planning permissions and the 
development of land which was a separate matter to the Council declaring a climate 
emergency. 

22.7 During the debate which ensued, a Member expressed the view that the Inspector 
had added many sensible Modifications relating to sustainable initiatives, building 
with nature, climate change mitigation, reducing light pollution etc. - she appreciated 
the work of all involved in producing the plan and understood the need to get the 
Borough Plan adopted; however, there were many constituents who were unhappy 
with the Plan which left her in a very difficult position. Another Member indicated 
that, in October, he had put forward a proposal to remove land at Mitton (policy 
MM8) from the Plan but that had not found support. He continued to be of the view 
that the site was not necessary and that it would have significant consequences on 
flooding, traffic and services in Tewkesbury Town. In response to a query regarding 
the land at Mitton, the Interim Planning Policy Manager confirmed that the planning 
permission for that site would be considered by Wychavon District Council because 
it fell within that local authority boundary although the numbers would be counted 
within Tewkesbury Borough Council’s figures in line with the Memorandum of 
Understanding. The site was not therefore being allocated in the Borough Plan, but 
the Plan nevertheless noted that it would be likely to be a source of some housing 
supply which would go to meet Tewkesbury Borough’s housing needs. 

22.8 A Member expressed the view that this was one of the most important decisions to 
be made in the four-year term of this Council and he felt Members owed it to 

15



CL.08.06.22

residents to adopt the Plan and end some of the speculative development which 
had occurred until now. Another Member agreed, he understood that parts of the 
Plan were unpalatable for some residents, but felt that, if the Plan was not adopted, 
any and all pieces of green land would potentially be developed on appeal and to 
prevent that the Council must have a five year housing land supply. 

22.9 Having received a proposal and seconder, a recorded vote was requested and, 
upon receiving the appropriate level of support, voting was recorded as follows:  

For Against Abstain Absent

K Berliner M G Sztymiak C M Cody G F Blackwell

R A Bird P N Workman M L Jordan J H Evetts

G J Bocking P E Smith M A Gore

C L J Carter H S Munro

K J Cromwell P W Ockelton

M Dean R J G Smith

R D East R J E Vines

P A Godwin

D W Gray

D J Harwood

E J MacTiernan

J R Mason

H C McLain

P D McLain

C E Mills

J P Mills

J W Murphy

A S Reece

C Reid

J K Smith

V D Smith

C Softley

R J Stanley

P D Surman

16



CL.08.06.22

S Thomson

M J Williams 

22.10 With 26 votes in favour, two against and three abstentions, it was 
RESOLVED a. That the conclusions of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 

     Inspector’s Report (Appendix 1) be NOTED. 
b. That the content of the Sustainability Appraisal adoption 

statement at Appendix 6 be NOTED. 
c. That the adoption of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011 – 

2031 will revoke all saved policies of the Tewkesbury Borough 
Local Plan to 2011.

d. That the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011 – 2031 (Appendix 4), 
incorporating all of the Main Modifications recommended by 
the Inspector (Appendix 2) together with the additional 
modifications as set out in Appendix 3, be ADOPTED as part 
of the Council’s statutory Development Plan.  

e. That authority be delegated to the Head of Development 
Services, in consultation with the Lead Member for the Built 
Environment, to make minor spelling, grammatical, cross-
referencing or typographical errors and presentational changes 
(including the addition of a Foreword) to the Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan prior to publication; and to prepare and publish 
an updated and consolidated version of the Policies Map as it 
related to the Tewkesbury Borough Plan.

22.11 The Leader of the Council announced that this was the last Council meeting for the 
current Chief Executive who would leave the authority on Friday 10 June 2022. He 
thanked the Chief Executive on behalf of the Council for the 13 years’ service he 
had given to the Council since his appointment. In offering his thanks, the Chief 
Executive indicated that it was 13 years this month since he had been appointed as 
Tewkesbury Borough Council’s Chief Executive and, since then, he had been on an 
amazing journey. When he began, the Council had just started voluntary 
engagement with the government and had quite a low reputation; however, over the 
years that reputation had developed and the Council now had a good standing as a 
local authority and had achieved some amazing things. The hardest job in the last 
two years had been keeping services running whilst also dealing with all the 
additional issues raised by the COVID pandemic. He stated that the last 13 years 
had been a privilege and he had enjoyed working with Members and Officers and 
the feeling of family which the Council had. He loved the Council and the Borough 
and representing it had been a real pleasure. On Monday, the Council would get its 
new Chief Executive who was a very capable individual and he felt sure he would 
be a great person to assist the Council in facing its ongoing challenges. 

The meeting closed at 7:00 pm

17



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 1 June 2022

Subject: Interim Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 – 2024/25

Report of: Head of Finance and Asset Management 

Corporate Lead: Head of Finance and Asset Management 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Finance and Asset Management

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
The Interim Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), attached at Appendix A, provides a 
financial projection and plan for the Council for the period 2023/24 – 2024/25.  It sets out the 
Council’s estimates of its commitment expenditure, identifies the spending pressures it faces 
and the budget savings needed to achieve the recommended council tax levels for each of the 
three years of the plan. The plan is based on assumptions of government funding levels during 
the period.

Recommendation:
The Committee is asked to RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL the adoption of the Interim 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 – 2024/25.

Reasons for Recommendation:
The agreement of a medium term financial plan is crucial to the Council in ensuring sufficient 
resources are allocated to priority areas and that the Council remains financially sustainable. 
Without certainty from Government with regards to funding reform it is difficult to forecast levels 
of finance available over the final two years of the spending review period. It is even more 
difficult to project finance in the period after the spending review given the added uncertainties 
and therefore this interim strategy just focuses on the next two years. 

Resource Implications:
The Council could face a deficit in its base budget of over £2.94m in the next two years. The 
assumptions that have been made in reaching this estimate are included in summary, within 
this report. The MTFS sets out some of the strategies that will need to be considered to deal 
with the deficit.
The Council must set a balanced budget on an annual basis – it cannot run deficits and cannot 
borrow to fund day-to-day service delivery. In the event that it does not have sufficient resource 
to meet its expenditure needs, a s114 notice will need to be issued and a balanced budget re-
established within the financial envelope available to the Council.

18

Agenda Item 7a



Legal Implications:
The Council (the Executive Committee recommendation is sought in this report) must set a 
budget in accordance with provisions of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. The Council 
has a statutory responsibility to set and approve a balanced budget each year. Section 25 Local 
Government Act 2003 requires that the Council, in setting its budget, must have regard to the 
report of its s151 Officer as to the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the 
calculations and the adequacy of its proposed financial reserves.

Risk Management Implications:
Set out in in MTFS.

Performance Management Follow-up:
The MTFS will be kept under continual review and amended in line with significant policy 
changes, and performance will be monitored against the plan by Members through the quarterly 
performance monitoring reports. A full MTFS will be presented later in the financial year. 

Environmental Implications:
None directly associated with this report.

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND

1.1 Financial planning is fundamental to good financial management and the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy sets out resource availability within recommended Council tax levels.

2.0 INTERIM MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

2.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a key element within the Council's 
overall strategic planning framework.  The Strategy takes a medium term perspective 
and is reviewed, updated and rolled forward annually to set a framework for how budget 
pressures and priorities will be managed within the best estimates of available capital 
and revenue resources.  

2.2 Given the uncertainties around local government funding reform, the lack of information 
provided at the time of the Spending Review in October 2021 and the timing and rollover 
nature of the 2022/23 Local Government Financial Settlement, a detailed and reliable 
MTFS was unable to be produced over the winter 2021/22. This position does not 
support Members understanding the financial environment that the Council is operating 
in and does not lend itself to sensible financial planning.  

2.3 It had been hoped, given previous commitments, that the government would have 
engaged with local government in the early months of 2022 to provide some clarity on 
funding issues which would support the production of robust medium term financial 
plans. Unfortunately, this has not happened as yet and there remains a dense fog 
around the funding regime for local government. Nevertheless, it is important to provide 
members with information on the potential funding scenarios that may face the Council 
and hence and interim strategy, at the start of the annual budgeting process, has been 
produced to provide some analysis.

19



2.4 The Interim MTFS, attached at Appendix A, only covers the period from April 2023 to 
March 2025. Within this period, which is in line with the final two years of the Spending 
Review, there is still much uncertainty and a number of scenarios are a laid out in the 
attached report. Beyond this timeframe, it becomes even more difficult to predict funding 
levels given the absence of control totals associated with Spending Reviews, the current 
economic uncertainty and potential political uncertainty given the need for a general 
election. 

2.5 Further work will be undertaken in the coming months to look at options for the longer 
period and to produce a full five year MTFS for Member approval. 

3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

3.1 None.

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 Statutory consultation will be carried out with businesses and a public consultation is 
carried out through the winter. 

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

5.1 MTFS sets out the level of resource availability to meet the Council priorities and pledges 
which form the Council Plan.

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

6.1 Council tax levels must be set within Government limits to avoid the need to hold a 
referendum on ‘excessive’ increases.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

7.1 Some of the savings streams identified may have implications on staffing levels and the 
asset portfolio. These will be set out specifically within the detailed reports surrounding 
proposed saving actions.

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

8.1 These will be set out specifically within the detailed reports surrounding proposed saving 
actions.

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

9.1 These will be set out specifically within the detailed reports surrounding proposed saving 
actions.

20



10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

10.1 None.

Background Papers: None.

Contact Officer: Head of Finance and Asset Management
01684 272005

Appendices: A – Interim Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 – 2024/25.

21



Appendix A

Interim Medium Term Financial Strategy

2023 – 2025
1.0 BACKGROUND
1.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) provides a financial framework for the 

council’s strategic planning and decision making. The MTFS incorporates key factors 
such as the changes in Government funding, our spending plans and the level of 
savings and increased income that are likely to be needed. By anticipating financial 
pressures now, we can plan ahead early to meet the significant challenges in a way 
that ensures financial resources are targeted to the council’s highest priorities and have 
the minimum impact on services.

1.2 The MTFS was last approved in January 2021 and covered the period 2021 to 2026. At 
the time of approval, there was much uncertainty around the local government funding 
system, the overall quantum of funding available to local government and the economic 
impacts from the exit of the European Union and the covid pandemic. This uncertainty 
was built upon a decade of austerity cuts to local government funding and the delays to 
funding reform originally earmarked for delivery some years ago. 

1.3 In the period since, the Spending Review of October 2021 set a funding envelope for 
local government from April 2022 to March 2025. However, no progress has been 
made on the delivery of funding reform and the local government settlement continues 
to remain on a one year, rollover footing. In addition, we are now seeing the economic 
impacts of the issues in the previous paragraph being accentuated by the war in 
Ukraine and adding to the inflationary pressures and economic consequences that the 
country now faces. 

1.4 Despite this fog of uncertainty, it is imperative that the Council understands the 
potential financial scenarios it may face so that it can take sound financial decisions. 
This interim strategy provides members with an update on current issues, the most 
likely funding scenarios the Council will face in the short term and describes some of 
the actions being taken to address the projected shortfall in funding. A full MTFS 
update will be produced later in the year.

2.0 LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE SETTLEMENT 2023/24

2.1 The spending review in October 2021 set the Department Expenditure Limits (DEL) for 
the three years between April 2022 and March 2025. In terms of funding for local 
government, whilst there was significant additional funding in the first year, there was 
no additional funding in the second and third years outside of social care and some 
smaller grant funding pots. Therefore, the overall quantum of funding for local 
government, aside from social care, remains cash flat for the next two financial years 
and, given the current inflationary pressures, results in a real term cut in funding. Whilst 
it is possible that the Chancellor could provide further funding to ease the financial 
pressure in local government, this seems unlikely and, as a result, our expectations for 
funding in 2023/24 remain at the current levels. 

22



2.2 It is also now anticipated that there will be no change to the funding mechanisms for 
local government in 2023/24 and, as a result, the finance settlement is likely to once 
again be a one year, rollover settlement. Whilst promises were made to engage with 
local government over funding reform at the time of the current settlement in December 
2021, disappointingly, no such engagement has taken place. It is the view of most 
finance professionals in the sector that it is now too late in the cycle for the 
Government to consider, consult, design and rollout any funding reform in time for the 
2023/24 settlement which is expected in December 2022. Whilst there is a possibility 
that the Government may amend some of the data that supports the current funding 
mechanisms, given the age of the current data, even this could generate significant 
distributional change, creating winners and losers that may be unprotected from 
significant change, which means that even this is unlikely at this late juncture. 

2.3 Our central case for the 2023/24 finance settlement is therefore based on a roll forward 
of the status quo and providing, once again, for a one year only settlement. The details 
of this likely scenario are described in the following paragraphs.

2.4 Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA)
The SFA is defined as the sum of a Council’s Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and its 
Baseline Funding Level (BFL).  It was highlighted at paragraph 2.1 that it is expected 
that there will be no additional funding available to local government and it is highly 
unlikely that there will be any change to distribution mechanisms. This means that the 
Fair Funding Review (FFR), first consulted on in December 2017, will not be 
progressed and will not impact on the 23/24 settlement and the SFA will be distributed 
under the current mechanism.

As a result of this the RSG will remain at its current level of £24k. 

With regards to the BFL, this is also dependent on how much the Government decide 
to raise the business rates multiplier that effects the rates paid by business each year. 
Normally this is based on Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) in September each year but 
the Government has decided not to implement this in each of the last two years in 
order to support business. Given that inflation is likely to be in excess of 7.5% by 
September, we have assumed that the multiplier will again be frozen and, as a result, 
the BFL will be remain at £1.846m.

The retained rates scheme provides for a responsibility on Government to compensate 
local government for decisions that alter the financial benefit of the scheme. Therefore, 
it is assumed that a s31 grant for approximately £180k will be due in compensation to 
the council for this decision.

2.5 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
The Government consulted on options for a replacement scheme for NHB in Spring 
2021. No outcome of this consultation has been issued by the Government, only 
commentary restating its desire to work with local government on a replacement 
scheme. Given this lack of progress and the rollover nature of the projected 23/24 
settlement, it is expected that NHB will continue for one more year. 

As with the previous three years, it is likely that the Government will provide reward for 
one year only rather than the four years under the existing scheme. Based on current 
growth levels in the Borough, the reward for 2023/24 is likely to be similar to the current 
year and provide for around £667k worth of funding. 

However, the current settlement provides for the one off year in 2022/23 and the fourth 
and final year of the 2019/20 reward year. Together they provide a total reward of 

23



£1.63m. The likely settlement for 2023/24 therefore see a reduction in NHB funding of 
nearly £1m.

As the Government are reducing the reward available to local government under this 
scenario, it is anticipated that around £294m of funding will be released and should be 
distributed back to local government in line with proportionate BFL levels. If this was 
the case, a further £44k of NHB funding would come to Tewkesbury in 2023/24. This 
position has been included within our projection for 2023/24 but it cannot be ruled out 
that the Government may decide to redirect this funding through other funding streams 
and Tewkesbury may not see the benefit.

2.6 Other grants
Whilst the Services Grant (SG) was introduced for 2022/23 and made clear at the time 
it was for one year only, it is likely that it will be extended on the same basis into 
2023/24 and is therefore worth £127k to Tewkesbury. This grant effectively covers the 
cost of the additional national insurance contributions for the Council as an employer 
effective from April 2022.

The Lower Tier Services Grant (LTSG) was introduced in the previous year and similar 
to the SG was put forward as a one year only grant. Again, it is expected that it will be 
rolled forward into 2023/24 and for Tewkesbury will effectively provide a cash floor so 
that our Core Spending Power (CSP) does not decrease. The LTSG provides the 
balancing figure within the Government’s calculation of CSP which includes the funding 
listed in the previous paragraphs but also anticipated council tax income. 

It is expected that the Government will once again set council tax referendum limits as 
per the current year which for Districts was the higher of £5 or 2% on a band D charge. 
It is also expected that the Government will assume that local government will increase 
council tax by the maximum permissible and that the tax base of the authority will grow 
at an average of the last five years. As a result, the Government will expect 
Tewkesbury to generate an additional £300k of council tax income in 2023/24 and thus 
will reduce its own grant funding accordingly. 

Based on the assumption of a 0% floor on CSP, it is expected that Tewkesbury’s LTSG 
will only grow to £1.75m an increase of £440k and will not compensate in full for the 
NHB losses.  

2.7 Retained Business Rates
As with other areas of local government funding, it is believed that it is now too late to 
deliver a business rates reset in time for 2023/24. The reset is an integral part of the 
current retention scheme and was originally scheduled to be delivered in 2020/21. 
When it is delivered, it will take the growth generated by local government as a whole 
since the inception of the retention scheme and will redistribute based on the needs 
assessment within the BFL. When this does happen, Tewkesbury is likely to lose many 
hundreds of thousands of pounds of rates retention. 

Should the scheme remain as is and without a reset, it is likely that Tewkesbury’s 
retention levels will continue to grow and a total retention level of £1.25m has been 
assumed for 2023/24.

24



2.8 The following table, collated from the information of the previous paragraphs, produces 
the forecast of funding available to Tewkesbury in 2023/24 under current assumptions. 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24
£m £m £m

Settlement Funding Assessment 1.85 1.85 1.85
Revenue Support Grant 0.02 0.02 0.02
Compensation for business rates multiplier 0.10 0.15 0.34
Council Tax Requirement 4.58 4.81 5.10
New Homes Bonus 2.51 1.63 0.71
Rural Services Delivery Grant 0.01 0.01 0.01
Lower Tier Services Grant 0.93 1.31 1.75
2022/23 Services Grant 0.00 0.13 0.13
Core Spending Power 10.00 9.91 9.91
Business rates retention 0.34 1.03 1.25
Total resources 10.34 10.94 11.16

2.9 As can be seen form the table, the core spending power of the authority remains cash 
flat at £9.91m with the increases in funding from council tax, compensation for under 
indexing the multiplier and LTSG monies offsetting the reductions in funding within 
NHB. Given the forecasts for inflation over the current year, this results in a significant 
real terms cut in spending power between years.

The small increase in business rates retention means that the total level of funding 
resources available to the council will be £11.16m in 23/24.

The level of surplus or deficit from the collection funds for council tax and business 
rates are ignored for the purpose of this report. 

3.0 LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE SETTLEMENT 2024/25

3.1 For the following financial year, 2024/25, we have modelled two options for the 
settlement:

1. Another one year, roll over settlement
2. The roll out of funding reform

Of course, given the current levels of uncertainty it is possible that other options could 
be considered by the Government. There is also scope within the two options put 
forward in the following paragraphs for there to be changes to the assumptions made. 
Nevertheless, at this stage these are the two most likely options and the modelling for 
the roll out of funding reform is based on the direction of travel before it was 
suspended. 

3.2 Option 1 – one year, roll over settlement
Given that 2024/25 will be the final year of the three year Spending Review period and 
is most likely to include a general election, the Government could decide to once again 
pause funding reform. Funding will be rolled forward on the same basis as described in 
section 2 of this report and the following table highlights this position.

25



2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
£m £m £m £m

Settlement Funding Assessment 1.85 1.85 1.85 1.90
Revenue Support Grant 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02
Compensation for business rates 
multiplier 0.10 0.15 0.34 0.34
Council Tax Requirement 4.58 4.81 5.10 5.40
New Homes Bonus 2.51 1.63 0.71 0.71
Rural Services Delivery Grant 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01
Lower Tier Services Grant 0.93 1.31 1.75 1.40
2022/23 Services Grant 0.00 0.13 0.13 0.13
Core Spending Power 10.00 9.91 9.91 9.91
Business rates retention 0.34 1.03 1.25 1.50
Total resources 10.34 10.94 11.16 11.41

3.3 The table illustrates that the CSP of the authority remains at £9.91m after the following 
movements:

 The BFL that forms the major element of the Settlement Funding Assessment 
increases in line with an inflation projection of circa 3%, the government 
deciding to pass this increase onto businesses rather than again freezing the 
multiplier

 Council tax income rises by a further £300k based on the assumption of a £5 
increase at band D and growth in the tax base

 LTSG falls to £1.4m as a result of the increases in the previous two bullet points

The total resources of the authority increases by £250k to £11.41m as a result of 
growth to business rates retention for the year.  

3.4 Option 2 – roll out of funding reform
The following scenario is based on our current understanding of funding streams and 
the proposals and consultations put forward by previous ministers. Given the age of 
those proposals, they could be subject to change. 

3.5 Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA)
Within this area of funding there are some quite big movements under funding reform. 
The roll out of the Fair Funding Review (FFR), which could dramatically change the 
distributional methodology for SFA, would finally mean that the ‘temporary’ SG and 
LTSG would come to an end and the funding would move from these separate grants 
into SFA. For Tewkesbury, under our projection for 2023/24, this means that £127k and 
£1.75m respectively could be lost from these separate grants.

The direction of travel of the FFR in 2019 seemed to be providing increased funding for 
Metropolitan and County Councils with Inner London and Districts, to a lesser extent, 
being worse off. Using the 2019 model as the basis to project the position for 24/25 
suggests that Tewkesbury would see its RSG increase by £370k to £394k. Whilst the 
distributional mechanism in the FFR is projected to be worse for Tewkesbury, the extra 
money coming in from the separate grants serves to boost the actual RSG awarded. 
Nonetheless, there is a significant reduction in funding for Tewkesbury of circa £1.5m.

The BFL element of the SFA is projected to once again increase by inflation, currently 
assumed to be 3%. 

26



3.6 Business rates retention reset
As previously highlighted, the planned business rates retention reset could finally be 
instigated in 2024/25 with growth built up from 2013/14 being redistributed around local 
government.

If the reset came into effect in 2024/25 it is assumed that:
 The reset would be based on the 22/23 outturn position - all growth at this point 

would be subject to redistribution (circa £1m for TBC)
 Redistribution of the surplus would be based on the proportionate share of the 

national baseline funding level in 23/24, which is effectively an estimate of need 

As a result of these assumptions, it is estimated that Tewkesbury would receive a 
surplus distribution of £306k to offset its £1m loss from reset. The actual level of 
retention for 24/25 would also include any growth enjoyed in 23/24 and that forecast for 
24/25. 

In addition to this, the previous compensation for under-indexing the business rates 
multiplier is removed as a separate line of grant funding and absorbed into the 
retention position.

Overall, it is projected that business rates retention drops from £1.25m to £810k.

3.7 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
It is not known what position the Government will adopt in relation to a replacement 
NHB scheme given the lack of consultation and engagement over the last twelve 
months. There could be a replacement scheme but without knowing the quantum of 
funding to be set aside for it, which is unlikely to be close to the current £900m, or the 
distribution methodology it is very difficult to project potential levels of funding 
specifically for Tewkesbury. 

Whilst growth in the Borough is likely to continue at significant levels into the future, 
some of the options put forward for rewarding growth in the Spring 2021 consultation 
would not have been beneficial for Tewkesbury. One option looked at targets which 
exceeded the average recent growth in the area which, given our recent history of high 
growth, may mean that generating reward from the scheme may be difficult. 
Conversely, options were put forward that could put Tewkesbury in a healthy position 
to benefit from growth. 

Given this uncertainty, the projection for 2024/25 removes NHB or a replacement 
scheme and simply assumes that current funding levels are redistributed to local 
government in line with proportionate shares of the BFL i.e. needs levels. As a result, 
the projection assumes a redistributed NHB surplus of £111k for Tewkesbury in 
2024/25.

3.8 The accumulation of these funding changes, plus the assumed increase in council tax 
of £5 for a Band D property, is highlighted in the following table:

27



2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
£m £m £m

Settlement Funding Assessment 1.85 1.85 1.92
Revenue Support Grant 0.02 0.02 0.39
Compensation for business rates multiplier 0.15 0.34 0.00
Council Tax Requirement 4.81 5.10 5.40
New Homes Bonus 1.63 0.71 0.11
Rural Services Delivery Grant 0.01 0.01 0.01
Lower Tier Services Grant 1.31 1.75 0.00
2022/23 Services Grant 0.13 0.13 0.00
Core Spending Power 9.91 9.91 7.84
Business rates retention 1.03 1.25 0.81
Total resources 10.94 11.16 8.64

3.9 As can be seen in the table, there is a dramatic reduction in the Council’s CSP 
(£2.07m) and therefore its overall resources (£2.52m). This is a reduction of 22.5% and 
could not be absorbed by the Council in one hit. It would be expected that the 
Government would put in place a damping mechanism to provide transitional support 
for losers under funding reform (and conversely reduce funding increases for winners). 
Given the lack of progress on funding reform, it is no surprise that there is no 
information from Government on what damping arrangements are likely to be.  A 
number of questions need to be answered including:

 How much spending power will the Government allow individual authorities to 
lose?

 How long will damping arrangements last for?
 What is included and excluded from damping?

This last question is quite significant. The Government have already been explicit in 
that the Services Grant will be excluded but less clear is the ‘one off’ Lower Tier 
Services Grant. If this were to be excluded, it could mean that we would not receive 
damping support for £1.75m of lost grant funding. Conversely, will the Government 
include the impact of the business rates reset within damping arrangements? This 
could be very beneficial to District councils. The following table provides an example of 
what a damping scheme may look like based on the assumptions of a 5% maximum 
loss each year over five years.

3.10 Transitional arrangements with support provided for LTSG but not business rates 
retention

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
£m £m £m £m £m

Core Spending Power 9.79 9.78 7.84 8.19 8.37
Reduction in CSP (£) -1.94
Reduction in CSP (%) -19.87%
Permitted reduction -5% -10% -15%
Permitted CSP reduction -0.49 -0.98 -1.47
Damping 1.45 0.96 0.48
Total CSP 9.79 9.78 9.29 9.16 8.84
Business rates retention 1.03 1.25 0.81 0.83 0.97
Services grant 0.13 0.13 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total resources 10.94 11.16 10.10 9.99 9.81
Change in resources 0.22 -1.06 -0.11 -0.18

28



*Service grant separated out form spending power as not subject to damping

In this scenario, the Council would receive £1.45m of damping grant in 24/25 with that 
reducing by around £0.5m each year thereafter. For 24/25, this would mean overall 
resources would total £10.1m which would be a net reduction of £1.06m.

If LTSG was excluded from the transitional support calculations, it would mean that the 
Council would not receive any damping grant whatsoever as the losses in funding 
streams subject to transitional support would not be sufficient. In this scenario, overall 
resources would reduce by £2.52m in 2024/25 but would recover an average of £300k 
per annum as the base level is reached straight away and no reductions to damping 
grant are necessary.   

4.0 BEYOND 2024/25

4.1 Looking forward to 2025/26 and beyond it is very difficult to project funding levels. If no 
funding reform has occurred in the previous years, there would be an expectation that 
reform would be brought in in 2025/26. Would reform follow the path originally set out 
some 10 years earlier or could it be significantly different? Could it also include reform 
of council tax as well as reform to the taxation of busineses? 

4.2 There will also be a new Spending Review concluded in late 2024 that will set the 
funding envelope for public services. What will public finances look like by this time 
given the current economic conditions and what period will the new Spending Review 
cover? Will that then translate into a multi-year deal for local government to provide 
some certainty? 

4.3 There will also be a general election before the 2025/26 financial settlement, possibly 
even earlier. It is not known what the outcome of the election will be and what the effect 
on local government will be.

4.4 Given this increased uncertainty, it is extremely difficult to make any longer term 
financial projections at this point.

5.0 BASE BUDGET & GROWTH

5.1 To support the development of the interim MTFS, a simplistic, inflation led approach to 
the base budget has been modelled. Over the last decade, inflation has not been a 
major factor in our MTFS projections with the average rate of inflation running below 
the government’s target of 2%. The increase in prices for goods and services have 
been absorbed within our budgets whilst employee inflation was, for a large part of the 
decade, either frozen or contained at 1%.

5.2 That position has changed dramatically in 2022 with near term inflation set to rise 
above 10% according to the latest Bank of England projection. The following graph 
highlights this and the longer term return to target levels.

29



5.3 The inflation projection for the current year and 2023 will have a significant impact on 
the cost of providing services for the Council. Using a subjective analysis level, the 
headline rates of inflation as per the Office of Budget Responsibility from April 2022 
have been applied to determine the potential net budget position in the coming years. 

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Employees 11.35 12.26 12.55 12.76 13.01 13.27 
Premises 0.71 0.76 0.78 0.79 0.81 0.83 
Transport 0.06 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.07 
Supplies & Services 2.31 2.50 2.55 2.60 2.65 2.70 
Third party 
payments 6.63 7.16 7.33 7.45 7.60 7.75 
Interest payments 0.47 0.50 0.52 0.52 0.54 0.55 
Housing Benefits 9.00 9.72 9.95 10.12 10.31 10.52 
Income -21.12 -22.81 -23.35 -23.74 -24.20 -24.69 
MRP 0.91 0.93 0.96 0.98 1.01 1.03 
Reserves 0.63 0.65 0.68 0.70 0.73 0.75 
Net budget 10.94 11.74 12.03 12.26 12.51 12.78 
Increase 0.80 0.29 0.22 0.26 0.27 

5.4 Whilst this is a simplistic projection and further work will be done in the coming months 
to apply inflation on a line by line basis in order to refine estimates, it is clear that 
inflation will have a significant impact, particularly over the next two years. Increased 
net costs of £800k and £290k on current costs are currently projected.

5.5 In addition to the inflationary pressures on existing costs, it is expected that further 
growth requests will come forward. Ongoing growth of £440k was included within the 
current year budget but this was set against request levels totaling £1.6m. Given this, it 
is expected that circa £1m in growth will be put forward to meet demand for 2024/25. 
As per the current year, careful consideration will need to be given to which growth 
requests to support, which can be funded by alternative means and which cannot be 
supported. It should be noted that some of the growth requests are likely to be 
unavoidable such as the additional capacity necessary to continue providing waste and 

30



recycling services to the growing Borough. The cost of this alone, when also factoring 
in additional vehicle replacement, is around £325k per annum.

5.6 For the purposes of the interim MTFS model, it has been assumed that £0.5m will need 
to be supported in each of the next two years. 

6.0 FINANCIAL PROJECTION 2023-2025

6.1 Bringing all of the information in the previous sections together, we can produce the 
financial projection for the next two years. There are two projections highlighted below 
based on the different scenario’s for 2024/25.

6.2 Projection 23-25 (double rollover)

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
£m £m £m 

Expenditure
Base budget 10.94 11.74 12.03 
Growth 0.00 0.50 1.00 

Total expenditure 10.94 12.24 13.03 
Funding

CSP 9.91 9.91 9.91
Retained rates 1.03 1.25 1.50

Total funding 10.94 11.16 11.41
Net deficit 0.00 1.08 1.62 

6.3 Projection 23-25 (rollover followed by funding reform with best case transitional 
support)

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
£m £m £m 

Expenditure
Base budget 10.94 11.74 12.03 
Growth 0.00 0.50 1.00 

Total expenditure 10.94 12.24 13.03 
Funding

CSP 9.91 9.91 7.84
Retained rates 1.03 1.25 0.81
Transitional 
support 0.00 0.00 1.45

Total funding 10.94 11.16 10.10
Net deficit 0.00 1.08 2.94 

6.4 As can be seen in the tables above, the current projection for the budget deficit in 
2023/24 is £1.08m in both scenarios made up of a £1.3m increase in cost offset by a 
small increase in funding from business rates.

For 2024/25 the cumulative deficit rises to a figure of between £1.62m and £2.94m 
depending on the funding scenario for the year. Cost increases of a further £0.79m 

31



accounts for part of the increased deficit with the rest based on the assumption around 
funding reform. 

7.0 CLOSING THE GAP

7.1 As highlighted in the previous section, a funding deficit of anywhere up to £2.94m could 
be envisaged for Tewkesbury in the next two years. This is of course speculation, given 
the absence of a defined position from the government, and could be very different in 
reality. The Council though needs to be able to plan for the possible worst case 
scenario and know that actions are in place that would alleviate a deficit of this 
magnitude should it arrive. 

7.2 Many actions are already taking place corporately and within individual services. To 
provide assurance to decision makers that these actions are on track to deliver the 
financial benefits envisaged, it is important to coordinate, monitor and report the 
progress as a whole. In addition, the programme should not remain static and new 
ideas for cost saving or income generation should be continuously sought to 
supplement the programme to offset any slippage or to further bridge a widening gap. 
A programme will be drawn together by the s151 officer and reported on an ongoing 
basis to Transform Working Group and then via further formal MTFS and budget 
updates to the wider membership.

7.3 The following bullet points provide an overview of current actions which will form the 
basis of a deficit elimination programme.

 Detailed review of base budget assumptions to refine medium term projections
 Review of salary award assumption to provide a realistic assessment of an 

affordable medium term salary bill
 Pension fund triennial valuation, expected in Autumn 2022
 Employment of a Business Rates Intelligence Officer to provide detailed future 

forecasting on business rates growth 
 Delivery of the car park solar canopy to reduce energy costs by over £45,000 

per annum
 Rationalisation and reduction of some supplies and services e.g. photocopiers
 Review high areas of expenditure e.g. computer licences
 Cost the beneficial impact over the medium term of the Business 

Transformation Team’s programme of activity
 Explore the potential for greater self service in Revenues & Benefits
 Exploit trading and cross boundary working opportunities provided by Ubico
 Cost neutrality for the trade waste service
 Delivery of the in-cab technology project for our waste and recycling vehicles
 Develop a business case for the replacement of the current leased depot facility
 Develop plans for the redevelopment of Tewkesbury Town Centre which 

incorporates a net financial return to the authority
 Seek to reduce the Council’s borrowing requirement
 Lobby the government to increase planning fees (last increased in April 2017)
 Increase the rental income from our commercial portfolio by including the lease 

of unit 5 at Vaughn Park, Tipton in the ongoing rental stream
 Include the business rates windfall from Gloucestershire Pool in the base 

budget

7.4 It is estimated that if all of these actions were delivered, a net benefit of over £3m could 
be realized. Beyond this programme and any additions of a similar nature, the Council 
will need to look at its overall staffing structure and the variety and level of services it 
provides to its communities. 

32



7.5 To support the delivery of this programme, the Council is fortunate to have a healthy level 
of reserves. A number of reserves have been established for the direct delivery of these 
projects. In addition, the Council has an uncommitted MTFS reserve of £2.6m which is 
hoped to be increased to over £3m once the 2021/22 accounts are closed. This reserve 
can be used to further support the changes to be delivered by this programme and, if 
necessary, be used for temporary support to the base budget. 

8.0 CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS

8.1 The previous sections of this interim strategy provide officers current thoughts on the 
most likely position for the Council’s budget in the short to medium term. It is hoped 
that in the coming months, information will be provided by Government which will allow 
financial projections to be made with more certainty.
 

8.2 A full MTFS will be prepared for approval by Council this Winter utilising the information 
made available by the government at that time and making assumptions where there 
are gaps in the information. 

9.0 GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS 

9.1 MTFS Medium Term Financial Strategy
SR Spending Review
DEL Department Expenditure Limit
SFA Settlement Funding Assessment
RSG Revenue Support Grant
BFL Baseline Funding Level
FFR Fair Funding Review
CPI Consumer Price Index
NHB New Homes Bonus
SG Services Grant
LTSG Lower Tier Services Grant
CSP Core Spending Power

33



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Executive Committee

Date of Meeting: 1 June 2022

Subject: Council Plan (2020-2024) Annual Refresh (Year 3)

Report of: Head of Corporate Services 

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive

Lead Member: Leader of the Council 

Number of Appendices: One

Executive Summary:
The Council Plan is a key strategic document which establishes an overarching vision for the 
borough and sets out, in broad terms, the priorities, objectives and actions that the Council will 
focus upon to work towards the vision. The current plan (2020-2024) was approved by Council 
on 28 January 2020. To ensure the plan is a live document, it is reviewed on an annual basis 
and where appropriate updated. The proposed 2020-2024 (Year 3) plan is attached at Appendix 
1. 
Given the unprecedented challenge and impact on the Council’s services and it’s residents, 
communities and business by the Coronavirus pandemic a Corporate Covid-19 Recovery Plan 
was approved by Executive Committee on 5 August 2020. This plan was developed around the 
principles, framework and governance arrangements adopted in relation to the 2020 – 2024 
Council Plan. 
As reported previously, any outstanding actions from the Covid-19 Recovery Plan have now 
been transitioned back into the Council Plan thereby reverting back to one strategic document. 
The Council Plan and its actions acknowledge the longer term recovery challenges presented 
by the pandemic. 

Recommendation:
Subject to any amendments from the Executive Committee, the Council Plan refresh is 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL for adoption.

Reasons for Recommendation:
To ensure the plans remain live documents, actions need to be reviewed on an annual basis 
and refreshed where appropriate.

Resource Implications:
None arising directly from this report.  

Legal Implications:
None arising directly from this report. 

Risk Management Implications:
If the Council does not have an up-to-date Council Plan it cannot demonstrate that priorities are 
being achieved. 

34

Agenda Item 7b



Performance Management Follow-up:
Delivery of the Council Plan is monitored though a Performance Tracker which is reported to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis. 

Environmental Implications: 
None arising directly from this report.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council Plan is a key strategic document, which establishes an overarching vision 
for the borough. It sets out, in broad terms, the priorities, objectives and actions that the 
council will focus upon to work towards the vision. 
The current plan (2020-2024) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. To ensure 
the plan is a live document, it is reviewed on an annual basis and, where appropriate, 
updated. 
The proposed 2020-2024 (Year 3) plan is attached at Appendix 1. 

1.2 The Covid-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the Council’s services and its 
residents, communities and businesses. Reflecting this, a corporate Covid-19 recovery 
plan was approved by Executive Committee on 5 August 2020. This plan was developed 
around the principles, framework and governance arrangements adopted in relation to 
the 2020-2024 Council Plan. 

1.3 As reported previously, any outstanding actions from the Covid-19 Recovery Plan have 
now been transitioned back into the Council Plan thereby reverting to one strategic 
document. The Council Plan and its actions acknowledge the longer term recovery 
challenges presented by the pandemic. 

2.0 COUNCIL PLAN 2020-2024 

2.1 In terms of the plan’s overall vision and values, these remain unchanged. 
The vision for the borough is ‘A place where a good quality of life is open to all’. 
The values continue to reflect the fact that we are a Council, which:

- Puts customers first.
- Is positive about working with others.
- Values its employees. 

35



2.2 The plan re-affirms the Council’s six priority themes. The priorities are:  
1. Finance and resources.
2. Economic growth. 
3. Housing and communities.
4. Customer first.
5. Garden communities.
6. Sustainable environment.

Each of the priorities is supported by a series of key objectives. Underneath each 
objective are supporting actions to be delivered or progressed during the year.  

2.3 The main purpose of the annual refresh is to review the Council Plan actions under each 
of the priority objectives and establish the status of each one. 
As part of this, there may be a range of outcomes, for example: 

 An action may have been delivered during the year and therefore can be 
removed from the plan. 

 New actions may have emerged to support the delivery of the priority. 

 An action may need to be amended to reflect the changing nature of the action. 

 An action may need to be removed as it is no longer relevant or has been 
deferred. 

Examples of these in the Council Plan refresh include: 

 ‘ensure that the Ubico resource made available as a result of the bulky waste 
review is redeployed’ (under Finance and resources priority theme) has been 
removed as this action is complete. 

 ‘Introduce a shop-front grant scheme through the Tewkesbury High Street 
Heritage Action Zone’ (under Economic Growth) has been amended to ‘deliver 
projects as part of the Tewkesbury High Street Heritage Action Zone, including 
Shop Front Scheme, Upper Floors Scheme and Traditional Skills’‘ to reflect the 
wider work streams of the project. 

 ‘There are a range of new actions, including ‘re-commence the regeneration of 
Tewkesbury Town projects’ (under Economic Growth), deliver an empty homes 
strategy (under Housing and Communities), carry out a review of the licensing 
service (under Customer First), deploy CCTV cameras in fly tipping hotspots 
(under Sustainable Environment) etc. 

3.0 COVID-19 CORPORATE RECOVERY PLAN

3.1 The Recovery Plan was developed and approved to demonstrate how the Council 
responded in the early stages of the pandemic and to provide the direction of travel for 
the borough’s recovery. The plan was developed around the six priority themes within the 
Council Plan.  As outlined in the introduction of this report, actions have been 
transitioned back into the Council Plan. Importantly, this will not dilute the Council’s 
approach to recovery. There continues to be a thread related to Covid-19 within the 
Council Plan refresh. There are also actions within the Council Plan, for example through 
the formulation of strategies such as the Economic Development and Tourism Strategy 
and Medium Term Financial Strategy which will recognise and reflect the impact that the 
pandemic had on the Council, our residents, communities and our businesses. All 
actions brought forward from the recovery plan are annotated (r).

36



4.0 MONITORING PROGRESS 

4.1 The same and trusted methodology will be used to monitor delivery of the actions.  The 
established performance tracker will be reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
a quarterly basis. All individual actions are reported within this document. Supporting the 
this, is additional Key Performance Information (KPI) data and various financial reporting 
information. Outcomes of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee review are then reported 
to Executive Committee by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

5.1 None.

6.0 CONSULTATION 

6.1 Heads of Service and Operational Managers have been pivotal in putting forward new 
actions. 

7.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES

7.1 There are a number of key strategies that support delivery of Council Plan priorities. For 
example; digital strategy, housing and homelessness strategy, economic development 
and tourism strategy, etc. 

8.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES 

8.1 A wide range of government policies underpin actions within the priority themes. 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property)

9.1 No direct resource implications. 

10.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment)

10.1 The Council Plan seeks to ensure economic, social and environmental sustainability. 

11.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety)

11.1 The Council Plan seeks to ensure value for money and equitable service provision. 

12.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS 

12.1 Council Plan (2021-2024) - approved by Council 28 January 2020.
Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan - approved by Executive Committee 5 August 2020.

Background Papers: None.

Contact Officer: Head of Corporate Services
01684 272002      graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk 

Appendices: 1 – Draft Council Plan (2020-2024) Year 3 Refresh.
                                                                              

37

mailto:graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Year 3: 2022

Tewkesbury Borough
Council Plan

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

2020-24

38



P1
Foreword

P2
Our borough

P3
A snapshot of our borough

P4
More about us

P5 
Our vision and values

P6
Our priorities and objectives

P7
Finance and resources

P8
Economic growth

P9
Housing and communities

P10
Customer first

P11
Garden communities

P12
Sustainable environment

P13
Keeping our performance on track

P14 
Achievements 2021-2022

Contents

39



Council Plan 2020-2024

Foreword
We are pleased to introduce the annual refresh of our
Council Plan 2020 to 2024 (Year Three). This document is
a statement of intent to drive forward our vision:

“Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a good quality of life is
open to all."

To deliver this vision and provide focus, we have established
six priorities:

· Finances and resources
· Economic growth
· Housing and communities
· Customer first
· Garden communities
· Sustainable environment

In this year’s Council Plan, as we continue to recover from
the pandemic, we have incorporated the remaining actions
from our Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan so that our
focus for 2022/23 falls under one key strategic document.
We have marked these actions with an (r) throughout the
plan. It remains important for us to be mindful of the
potential for new variants to emerge and we have learned a
significant amount from our response over the past two
years. Importantly, as an agile and alert organisation, we are
well-equipped to revert to response mode if needed.

Our refreshed Council Plan gives us a focus on improvement
for the future, and the flexibility to adapt as things change.
Throughout 2022/23 we will continue to support our
borough’s emergence from the pandemic, supporting
businesses and residents to thrive. With that in mind, we will
use our ambition, creativity, and drive to deliver excellent,
value-for-money services for our communities.

Our investment in our award-winning Business
Transformation Team reflects our commitment to
transforming our customers’ experience. This unique team
is challenging the way we deliver our services, ensuring they
are designed around our customers’ needs. From
introducing paperless billing to a transforming our bulky
waste service, we are committed to delivering our services
in more efficient and effective ways. 

As one of the fastest-growing districts in the country, and
with our commitment to delivering our garden communities,
we know the future for Tewkesbury Borough is solid
infrastructure, innovative skills, timely housing delivery and
cohesive communities. The adoption of our Local Plan is
expected shortly, and alongside our Joint Strategic Plan
(JSP), this key document will help to shape our growth in a
planned and sustainable way. 

We are incredibly lucky for our borough to be home to an
abundance of beautiful, natural assets and our commitment
to prioritise a sustainable environment will help us enhance
and protect our landscape and support our climate
emergency declaration.

We remain committed to our ethos ‘Better for Customers,
Better for Business’- and more than anything else we will
look to ensure that everything we do is shaped around the
needs of our customers and communities. This includes
supporting recent initiatives announced by Government
such as the administration of the Council Tax Scheme and
working closely with our partners to support the Homes for
Ukraine Scheme. 

You will see that we made some significant achievements in
our second year (2021-2022) under each of our priority
themes, and these can be found on pages 14-16

1

“Tewkesbury
Borough, a place

where a good
quality of life is 

open to all”

Councillor Rob Bird, Leader of the Council

Councillor Jim Mason, Deputy Leader of the Council

40



Council Plan 2020-2024

Tewkesbury Borough
Our borough is predominantly rural and located in the
north of the county extending southwards beyond
Gloucester and Cheltenham. The eastern part of the
borough lies within the Cotswold AONB. Our
population is roughly 96,624 made up of 43,511
households spread across 160 square miles. It has
an excellent location at the heart of the M5 corridor.

Although apparently rural in character, our borough includes
a wide range of economic activity - from large multinationals
to micro businesses. We are an established centre for high
quality manufacturing and home to some world class high
tech aero engineering firms. The diverse and contrasting
range of settlements provides a high quality environment in
which to live. Combined with its excellent strategic location,
it makes an ideal area for economic and business growth.

2

Tewkesbury
Borough

41



combeeWinchchc

Bishop’sBis
CleeveClee

RRRRiii
vvveee

rr AAAA
vvAAA
oonn

B46
32

B4
63
2

B4077

A4
35

A46

A4
6

B4213

A41417

A3A3
8

B4215

A40

A4
8

B4
06
3

A417

A4019

ownChurchddoC

worthBrockwokwwor

ewkesburyk buTTewew

Twyningngg

SouthamSou

Stanton

StanwayTeddington

Oxenton

Deeerhurst
yTirley

worthAshlewo

Down
Hatherley

oreMaisemoreaiseMaMa

                    

population 
INCREASE
2012-2020

employed in
MANUFACTURING

EMPLOYMENT 
rate (16–64 year olds)

                  BLACK,
ASIAN and MIXED 
ETHNICITY (ONS 2011)

CRIME rate per
1000 population in 2021

LIFE 
expectancy

X
Rated
in the social 
DEPRIVATION index
out of 317 (1 being most deprived)

active BUSINESSES
in the Borough
(ONS 2021)

VISITORS
spend in the borough

Unemployment
CLAIMANT
rate (December 2021)

Number of visitors 
staying in the 
BOROUGH

82 years 
(female 82.42 and male 79.30)16.4%

2.3%

327,600

64

96,624

20.8%

£135m
81.6%

2.5%

4,375

261

POPULATION

51.3% female

48.7%
male

HOUSEHOLDS
in the borough

43,511

Council Plan 2020-20243

Our Borough

42



Council Plan 2020-20244

More about us... Responded to  

572FREEDOM OF
INFORMATION requests

 

198,374 
PAGE VIEWS by 104,062 
visitors through our WEBSITE

1571
PLANNING
APPLICATIONS
considered

Carried out

1454 
PLAYGROUND
INSPECTIONS

Considered

95 FORMAL
COMPLAINTS

STAFF
224

38

500+

We have

COUNCILLORS

Employ

Volunteer LITTER
PICKERS

Carried out over

4 million 
BIN COLLECTIONS

Responded to

1502
ENVIRO-CRIMES

19,000+ 
GARDEN 
WASTE customers

 

184k 
CALLS
to key services

699 
FOOD BUSINESSES
awarded a hyegiene rating

2,198 
HOUSING
benefit claims

Dealt with  

6150applications
for CHANGE of CIRCUMSTANCES
for benefits customers

19,100+ 
tonnes of WASTE was 
RECYCLED or 
COMPOSTED 

£134,488
AWARDED in
COMMUNITY
grants

1,800
HOUSING
register applicants

Dealt with over

Over 300 
COMMUNITY groups 
were supported with 
FUNDING advice

Supported the 
delivery of 
150+ affordable 
NEW HOMES

PREVENTED 137 
homelessness cases

4,300
BULKY WASTE
collections

Supported 10 community 
led BIO-DIVERSITY projects

Awarded £423,600 
to RESIDENTS through the 
TEST AND TRACE support 
scheme

5,477COVID 19 
BUSINESS GRANTS  
AWARDED in excess of

Over £31,000 
Covid Contain Outbreak 
Management funding has 
helped SUPPORT 27 households

£31.6m
£

43



Council Plan 2020-2024

Our vision is to make:

“Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a 
good quality of life is open to all."

Our values
Everything we do is aimed at delivering our vision but the
way we deliver services is equally important to us. We are an
ambitious council punching above its weight, and we have
therefore adopted a set of values which we apply across all
of our activities. We are a council which: 

Puts customers first
We will put the needs of our customers at the heart of 
what we do and listen to what they say, treating people 
fairly and without bias.

Is positive about working with others
We recognise we cannot achieve our vision by working 
alone. We will continue to develop productive working 
relationships with other organisations and our 
communities, including the voluntary sector, town and 
parish councils and neighbourhood groups to achieve 
common goals.

Values our employees
We will support, praise and invest in our workforce to 
develop our organisation.

Supporting our values we also have an ethos that whatever
we do will be ‘better for customers, better for business’. 

5

Our vision and values 2020-2024

a

a

a

“Everything we do is
aimed at delivering
our vision but the

way we deliver
services is equally
important to us” 

44



Council Plan 2020-2024

Finance and resources

• To ensure the council remains financially secure in the
long term

• Maintain a low council tax
• Maintain our assets to maximise financial returns
• Deliver the council’s commercial strategy

Economic growth

• Deliver our strategic and economic development plans
• Deliver employment land and infrastructure to facilitate

economic growth
• Deliver borough regeneration schemes
• Promote the borough as an attractive place to live and 

visit

Housing and communities 

• Deliver the housing needs of our communities
• Ensure development plans provide for the five year 

land supply requirement
• Support infrastructure and facilities delivery to enable 

sustainable communities

Customer first

• Maintain our culture of continuous service 
improvement

• Develop online services to achieve ‘digital by 
preference, access for all’

Garden communities 

• Delivery of Tewkesbury Garden Town
• Delivery of Golden Valley Garden Community village.

Sustainable environment 

• Deliver the carbon reduction action plan
• Promote a healthy and flourishing environment in the 

borough
• Promote responsible recycling across the borough 
• Preserve and enhance the natural assets and built 

heritage of our borough

6

Our priorities and objectives 2020-24

45



Council Plan 2020-2024

To ensure the council remains financially secure
in the long term

a) Introducing and complying with the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) new 
Financial Management Code.

a) Deliver the council’s action plan to ensure compliance 
with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Financial Management Code

b) Produce a Medium Term Financial Strategy that 
recognises the impact of funding reform and, delivers a
balanced approach to meeting funding gaps.

Maintain a low council tax

a) Ensure our council tax remains in the lowest quartile 
nationally. 

Maintain our assets to maximise financial
returns

a) Update the council’s asset management plan.
b) Approve a new planned maintenance programme.
c) Ensure that voids within our commercial property 

portfolio are re-let at the earliest opportunity.

Deliver the council’s commercial strategy

a) Deliver the approved trade waste business case to 
make the service commercially viable.

b) Ensure that the Ubico resource made available as a 
result of the bulky waste review is redeployed. 

c) Deliver the One Legal service review and action plan.
b) Develop an action plan to finalise the One Legal 

Services review.

7

The local government financial climate means we have no choice but to manage with less money from central government,
while the demand on our services and costs increases. This issue has been heightened further as we deal with the
aftereffects of the pandemic and other national and international economic impacts. The extended delay to local
government funding reform means the council continues to suffer from one year only national settlements, which persist to
reduce the funding available. 

We therefore need to ensure that every pound spent is done so efficiently and achieves the maximum possible benefit,
whilst also looking to generate additional income to support our front-line services. We are proud of our council tax setting
history - and maintaining our place as one of the lowest charging councils in the country is an integral part of our financial
strategies. We are determined to meet our financial challenges whilst continuing to provide value for money for our
residents and businesses. 

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are: 

“The council has to
manage with less

money whilst
demands on our

services increase” 

Finance and resources 

46



Council Plan 2020-2024

Deliver our strategic plans and economic
development plans

a) To deliver an economic assessment of businesses
within Tewkesbury Borough.  

b) Deliver 50 workshops/events through the Tewkesbury 
Growth Hub.

b) Develop and launch the new Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy.

c) Work with the Local Enterprise Partnership and other 
partners to deliver the Local Industrial Strategy. 

c) Launch a Tewkesbury Borough Council Business Grants 
scheme. (r)

. 

Deliver employment land and infrastructure to
facilitate economic growth

a) Deliver employment land through allocating land in the 
Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) Joint Core Strategy (JCS)  and 
Tewkesbury Borough Plan (TBP).

b) Work with partners to secure transport infrastructure 
improvements for the all-ways Junction 10.

c) Publish the Infrastructure Funding Statement.

Deliver borough regeneration schemes

a) Increase community engagement through delivery of a 
range of community initiatives and events for the 
Tewkesbury High Street Heritage Action Zone. 

a) Undertake a community streets audit within the Tewkesbury 
High Street Heritage Action Zone 

b) Introduce a shop-front grant scheme through the 
Tewkesbury High Street Heritage Action Zone.

b) To deliver projects as part of the Tewkesbury High Street 
Heritage Action Zone, including Shop Front Scheme, Upper 
Floors Scheme and Traditional Skills. 

c) Develop an Investment Plan for the Borough through the 
Shared Prosperity Fund. 

d) Re-commence the regeneration of Tewkesbury Town 
projects.

Promote the borough as an attractive place to
live and visit

a) Work with Cotswold Tourism to increase digital marketing to
promote the borough. 

a) Work with Cotswold Tourism and Visit Gloucestershire to 
promote the borough.

b) Celebrate with partners the significance of 2021 for 
Tewkesbury.

b) Provide support for the promotion and delivery of the Tour of
Britain cycle race.

8

Economic growth 

Tewkesbury Borough remains the place to do business and was rated as the strongest local economy in the UK for local businesses to
most likely to recover well from the pandemic (Raisin UK- April 2021).

As our economic growth recovers, we will continue to utilise our successful Growth Hub so our current businesses, and businesses
wanting to locate within our borough, are given the help and support to thrive. We are committed to delivering employment land and
housing, together with the right infrastructure and skills to attract new investment, retaining and 
strengthening existing businesses. 

We are excited to see Tewkesbury playing a starring role in the UK’s most prestigious cycle race- the Tour of Britain later in the year. We
will work hard to promote our borough and its assets to visitors, to help future prosperity of our borough and the local tourism industry

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are: 

“The borough
occupies a

strategic location
and we want the
local economy to

thrive” 

47



Council Plan 2020-2024

Deliver the housing needs of our communities

a) Work with partners to undertake the required review of
the JCS JSP.

b) Finalise and adopt the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. 
c) Developing a fit for purpose four-year housing 

strategy.
c) Deliver an Empty Homes Strategy. 
d) Carry out housing needs assessments to deliver 

affordable housing in rural areas. 
e) Increase the temporary housing accommodation 

supply.

Ensure development plans provide for the five
year land supply requirement

a) Ensure adequate land is allocated within the JCS JSP
and Tewkesbury Borough Plan to meet housing need. 

b) Work with developers and stakeholders to deliver 
sustainable sites to meet housing needs. 

Support infrastructure and facilities delivery to 
enable sustainable communities

a) Work with partners, infrastructure providers and 
developers, to progress the delivery of key sites. 

b) Provide training to parish councils on Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) monies. 

b) Adopt a revised charging schedule for the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

c) Support community groups to access funding to 
deliver improved community facilities.

c) Work with the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) 
to access funding to deliver improved community 
facilities.

9

Our borough is recognised as one of the fastest-growing districts outside of London (ONS 2020) and without doubt, our
ambition for growth is unprecedented for a borough of our size. We are committed to punching above our weight and
creating a ‘sustainable place’ to meet the needs of our growing population. We’ve recognise the pressure the pandemic has
brought to our communities, and we will continue to work closely with our partners to help ease the strain.

Our new Housing and Homelessness Strategy (2022 to 2026) is key in delivering this priority - with its own actions it will be
monitored separately through our Overview and Scrutiny Committee. One of the key actions within it is to deliver an Empty
Homes Strategy to help make better use of existing homes. 

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are: 

“We recognise how
important it is for
residents to feel

part of their
communities” 

Housing and communities 

48



Council Plan 2020-2024

Maintain our culture of continuous service
improvement.

a) Continue to improve the proactive homelessness 
prevention programme.

b) Continue to build on the early success of our new bulky 
waste service.

c) Deliver the planning service improvement plan.
b) Set up a planning agents forum.
c) Review the Environmental Health Service. (r)
d) Maximise the use of business intelligence within the 

council to ensure the accuracy of the rating list and help 
businesses build resilience. (r)

e) Continue to review the operational effectiveness of our 
return to the office and the opportunities provided 
through agile working. (r)

f) Carry out a full review of the licensing services.

10

Customer first

We simply would not exist without our customers, and we aim to provide a really positive council experience no matter how
we are contacted. The pandemic has reshaped how we operate as a council – we are now a much more flexible and agile
organisation and it has highlighted just how important it is that we deliver quality services that are easily accessible to all. 

Our Business Transformation Team continues to improve service delivery and customer engagement by providing more of
our services online. This vital work helps to free up our skilled officers so they can support those customers that need the
more traditional methods of communication or require more complex care. 

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are:

“We want to provide
the best possible

service to all of our
customers”

Develop online services to achieve ‘digital by
preference, access for all’

a) Carry out a review of our corporate website. 
b) Implement an online offering for the licensing service.
c) Implement a digital solution to improve internal HR 

processes. 
b) Explore the opportunity for an online offering for our 

cemeteries function.
c) Create a planning application tracker.

49



Council Plan 2020-2024

Delivery of Tewkesbury Garden Town

a) Formally establish the garden town planning status 
through the JCS. 

a) Support the garden town planning status through the JSP 
site assessment process.

b) Prepare a design guide and sustainability strategy.
b) Prepare a design manual. 
c) Deliver the planning and design phase of the Ashchurch 

and Northway Bridge Over Rail.
c) Finalise the design and launch the construction phase of 

the Ashchurch and Northway Bridge Over Rail (ANBOR).
d) Work with partners to progress the business case for the 

J9 and A46 improvements. 
e) Actively seek capital funding with our partners to support 

the programme. Submit a further Garden Community 
Capacity Funding bid for 2022/23. (r)

f) Work with partners to maximise sustainable development 
principles and low carbon technologies as part of the 
Garden Communities programme. (r)

g) Conclude the assessment of the delivery vehicle for the 
Garden Town and submit the business case to the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
(DLUHC). 

11

Garden communities

We will work with Homes England and other partners to develop plans for the garden town communities at Ashchurch in
Tewkesbury and the Golden Valley Garden Village in Cheltenham. These garden communities reflect our commitment to
delivering sustainable, well-designed and vibrant communities where people can live, work and raise families. Improving
transport links, education provision and green infrastructure, such as new parks and cycle routes will all play a big role in the
development of these new communities. . 

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are:  

“Deliver a
masterplan that
sets out the key
principles and

quality
development

expected ”

Delivery of Golden Valley Garden Community
village

a) Work with Cheltenham Borough Council and 
landowners towards the submission of a planning 
application in accordance with the Golden Valley 
Supplementary Planning Document.   

b) Prepare a land assembly programme to aid in the 
delivery of the Garden Village.

50



Council Plan 2020-2024

Deliver the carbon reduction action plan

a) Deliver the Public Services Centre’s low-carbon heating and 
solar PV systems.

a) Deliver the solar car parking canopy at the Public Services 
Centre. 

b) Embed our carbon reduction objectives within council services 
and raise awareness of our programme across staff, 
communities and partners.

b) Develop a communication plan and roll out carbon literacy 
training to ensure stakeholders are well informed and 
knowledgeable of the Council’s progress towards its carbon 
reduction objectives. 

c) Source and secure funding opportunities to support the 
delivery of our carbon reduction programme. 

Promote a healthy and flourishing environment in
the borough

a) Establish planning policies to ensure the delivery of 
healthy and sustainable communities. 

b) Support community-led bio-diversity projects across the 
borough.  

b) Promote a healthier lifestyle through working with Active 
Gloucestershire through the ‘we can move’ programme. (r) 

c) Carry out a review of our litter pickers’ scheme.

d) Work with the Integrated Locality Partnership (ILP) to build 
community resilience within the borough and reduce health 
inequalities. (r)

e) Commence planning and scoping study for implications of, and 
opportunities for, borough- wide decarbonisation. (r)

f) Deploy CCTV cameras in fly-tipping hotspots.

Promote responsible recycling across the
borough 

a) Take a robust approach towards fly-tipping and other enviro-
crimes. 

a) Undertake proactive marketing campaign of the new bulky 
waste service.

b) Work with the Gloucestershire Waste and Resources 
Partnership to improve our recycling figures and reduce waste. 

c) Introduce a small Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment 
(WEEE) scheme across the borough.

Preserve and enhance the natural assets and 
built heritage of our borough

a) Utilise the high street heritage action zone funding to implement
a programme of projects that contribute towards regeneration 
and enhancement of the town’s historic environment.

b) Adopt a Shopfront Design Guide (SPD) to provide guidance on 
shopfronts to ensure they contribute to a quality urban and 
historic environment. 

a) Establish and publish a local list of non-designated heritage 
assets in the borough.

12

Sustainable environment

We recognise the ongoing importance of managing carbon footprint and supporting our climate change declaration. Our commitment to
this is reflected in the appointment of a carbon reduction programme officer, whose focus is to help us to deliver the third year of our
carbon reduction action plan. 

Our borough is full of natural assets and built heritage, and we are committed to preserving and enhancing these. We also know that
reducing waste and increasing recycling is key to helping our environment flourish, and we will work with our residents to promote
responsible waste and recycling habits. 

To deliver this priority, our objectives and actions are

“Deliver the climate
emergency action

plan”

51



Council Plan 2020-2024

Good performance management is when an organisation knows it is
doing the right things well. To monitor how well we are performing, our
performance management framework includes a council plan
performance tracker. The tracker monitors the progress in delivering the
actions which support each priority theme and this year we have
incorporated the remaining longer-term actions from our council’s Covid-
19 Corporate Recovery Plan. The tracker details each individual action, a
feasible implementation date, accountable officer, a status column plus a
comments section to provide an overview on the delivery. Progress is
reported on a quarterly basis to our Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
Supporting the tracker is a set of key performance indicators and a
financial summary analysis. The findings from the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee review are personally reported by the chair of committee to the
council’s Executive Committee. 

Supporting our performance management framework and delivery of this
Council Plan are other key governance processes such as our:

• Risk management framework
• Project management framework
• Communications strategy
• Transformation programme
• Digital and ICT strategies

Collectively, the above provides a good oversight on what we are delivering
and alert us to when we need to take remedial action.

We look forward to reporting our Council Plan success and as always the
plan will be refreshed annually to ensure it remains a live document.

Should you require any further information about the Council Plan, please
contact: Graeme Simpson, Head of Corporate Services
email:  graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk

13

Keeping our performance on track

52



Council Plan 2020-2024

Finance and resources

• Setting the budget for 2022/23, despite the financial 
challenges facing the council, the budget includes the 
addition of £450,050 of ongoing growth in our services 
and £392,548 of one-off growth to further support 
services and our Council Plan ambitions. 

• Four leases were agreed in 2021/22 to ensure any voids 
within our commercial portfolio were filled, estimating our
rental income portfolio to be £3.2m per year. 

• Our trade waste service is in the early stages of an end-to-
end transformation. A project officer was appointed 
during the year and is leading on a full review of the 
service. 

• A £77,000 saving has been made on the successful 
completion of our bulky waste review. 

• We successfully recruited to the new Director of Law post
– a new beginning for our established One Legal shared 

service. 
• Our garden waste club saw an increase in income of 

£45,000, taking the total to over £1m. 
• In its first year the Business Transformation Team has 

been recognised nationally. It was also recently awarded 
Bronze at the iESE Public Sector Transformation Awards 
for the Best Transformation Team and was shortlisted for
the LGC ‘Team of the Year’ award. 

• Our services continue to be provided at excellent value-
for-money - with our council tax remaining one of the 
lowest in the country. 

• In June, we reduced the ongoing cost of the senior
management structure by deleting the deputy chief 
executive post

. 

Economic growth

•      The Growth Hub delivered 53 events, which was above 
       its target of 50 for the year.  
•      We continue to work closely with Gloucestershire 
       County Council to secure transport improvements for 
       the delivery of an all-ways Junction 10 on the M5. A 10-
       week public consultation took place, and the feedback 
       received will be used to shape the final design. 
•      We successfully launched a shop front grant scheme in 
       September 2021, which is a key strand in helping deliver 
       an exciting three-year High Street Heritage Action Zone 
       programme.
•      In November 2021 we worked with partners to celebrate
       the significance of 2021 for Tewkesbury, with one of the 
       key events ‘Tewkesbury Festival of Light’ attracting more
       than 5,000 attendees. 
•      Some of Tewkesbury Borough's key tourism hotspots 
       were visited by Laurence Robertson MP in March to 
       highlight English Tourism Week

      Housing and communities 

•      The main modifications of our Tewkesbury Borough 
       Local Plan finished its consultation in January 2022- 
       adoption is expected in spring 2022. 
•      We’ve supported over 300 community groups with 
       funding advice.
•      A new Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2022-26 
       was approved by Council in April 2022. 
•      A Local Development Scheme was recently approved at 
       Executive Committee setting out the revised timetable 
       for our development plans
.  

14

Our achievements 2021-22 (year two) 

53



Council Plan 2020-2024

.•     Supported the delivery of over 150 affordable new 
       homes. We prevented 137 homelessness cases and 
       provided housing advice to a further 170 cases. 
•      We’ve continued to work with partners within 
       Tewkesbury and Brockworth through the Integrated 
       Locality Partnership Scheme. A scheme that looks at 
       community wellbeing and building community resilience
       to help lead to positive health outcomes. 
•      We approved funding of £10,000 per year for the next 
       five years to support the Active Gloucestershire ‘We Can 
       Move’ project, which aims to get more people enjoying 
       an active life through physical activity
. 

Customer first 

•      Our bulky waste service has been completely 
       transformed - a new contractor was appointed, 
       introducing a recycling option. Income has increased by 
       over 100%, customer wait times have reduced from 5/6 
       weeks to less than 1 week and there is now the facility 
       to book the service online. 
•      The implementation of our new 4 Cs (compliments, 
       comments, concerns, complaints) ‘Have your Say’ 
       framework was launched for customers. We continue to
       be high performers nationally in relation to the small 
       number of complaints we receive.
•      Committed to continuous service improvement we have
       implemented service reviews in key service areas: 
       Development Management, Licensing and One Legal. 
•      The Business Transformation team has successfully 
       implemented a new digital platform ‘Liberty Create’. This
       involved reviewing and improving around 50 processes 
       such as ‘report it’, Freedom of Information requests, 
       data requests and ‘Have Your Say’. 

•      Through our digital platform we have been able to offer 
       the option for residents to sign up to paperless council 
       tax bills. 
•      We launched a digital recruitment system (Eploy) 
       supported with a new recruitment microsite - a modern 
       and professional portal which helps support the council 
       present itself as an employer of choice and makes it 
       easier for prospective applicants to engage with us. 
•      We continue to provide a grant of £52,000 to the 
       Citizens’ Advice Bureau, helping them to provide support
       to over 1200 members of the community. For 2021/22, 
       residents using the service have benefited from nearly 
       £270,000 of financial gains

     Garden communities 

•      Work has started on producing a sustainable strategy 
       for Tewkesbury Garden Town. 
•      We’ve been working closely with Cheltenham Borough 
       Council and landowners to support delivery of the 
       Golden Valley Garden Community. HBD X Factory has 
       been selected as the preferred development partner.
•      We recruited a dedicated communication officer to help 
       provide dedicated support to the garden communities 
       projects. 
•      We have been working with stakeholders and Sec 
       Newgate (engagement consultants) to prepare and 
       create a Community Engagement Strategy.

      Sustainable environment 

•      We were awarded £284,000 of funding to install a solar 
       canopy within the staff car park and planning 
       permission has been approved. A further £447,000 was 
       approved by Executive Committee to deliver the project.

15

Our achievements 2021-22 (year two) 

54



Council Plan 2020-2024

•     To support our carbon reduction ambitions a new 
       carbon reduction officer role was approved and has 
       been successfully recruited to. 
•      In August we introduced a small Waste Electrical and 
       Electronic Equipment (WEEE) kerbside recycling 
       scheme. Since going live over seven tonnes of electrical 
       waste has been collected. 
•      We appointed a heritage engagement officer who will 
       develop a local list of non-designated heritage assets 
       within the borough. 
•      We delivered the first year of our ‘climate change and 
       carbon reduction action plan’, which saw survey work 
       being undertaken at the Roses Theatre, new solar 
       parking machines installed, the creation of energy 
       diaries for all council buildings. 
•      Our garden waste club continues to provide an easy and
       sustainable way for our customers to dispose of their 
       garden waste - with more than 19,000 customers signed
       up to the scheme and 7200 tonnes of garden waste 
       collected and composted. 
•      The community development team has provided 
       support to 10 community led bio-diversity projects. 
•      Our five work streams of the jointly-funded £2.1m High 
       Street Heritage Action Zone will help preserve and 
       enhance the assets and characteristics of the local high 
       street. 
•      Multiple improvements have been carried out to the 
       Grangefield public open space in Bishop’s Cleeve, which 
       has enhanced the biodiversity and natural habitats for 
       wildlife. 
•      Recently, we worked with Grangefield Primary School in 
       planting over 20 fruit trees at the site as part of the 
       Queen’s Green Canopy initiative to mark Her Majesty’s 
       Platinum Jubilee. 

      Covid-19 response

•      The ongoing work of the business grants team has been
       phenomenal - administering over 18 grant schemes 
       throughout the year, resulting in 5,477 individual grants 
       being awarded in excess of £31.6m. 
•      We awarded a total £423,600 to residents through the 
       Covid-19 test and trace support scheme.
•      We have supported various voluntary and community 
       sector groups with Covid-19 small community grants. 
       Since the schemed started in April 2020, more than 
       £128,499 has been awarded. 
•      We have worked with Gloucestershire County Council to 
       deliver the Holidays Activities Fund and provide food 
       vouchers during the summer and winter school 
       holidays. We issued over 2070 food vouchers to 
       residents.
•      Over £31,000 of Covid Contain Outbreak Management 
       (COMF) funding has been used to help 27 households. 
•      We delivered the ‘Welcome Back Fund’, an extension of 
       the re-opening of the High Street Safety fund, which 
       resulted in a total of nearly £170,000 of funding being 
       directed to revitalising our high streets after the 
       pandemic. Our ‘Let’s Spring Back and Rediscover Local’ 
       campaigns helped to promote that our local high streets
       were back open and encouraged residents to shop 
       locally. 
•      Throughout the year we have continued to supply 
       detailed Covid-19 financial monitoring returns to the 
       Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
       (DLUHC). 
•      In partnership with Places Leisure, we supported the 
       successful operational recovery of Tewkesbury Leisure 
       Centre.

16

Our achievements 2021-22 (year two)  

55



Tewkesbury Borough Council
Public Services Centre

Gloucester Road
Tewkesbury
GL20 5TT

Phone 01684 295010
email: customerservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Produced: May  2022

56



Audit and governance committee

annual report

2021/22

Appendix 1

57

Agenda Item 8



Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

Message from the Chair 1

The role of Audit and Governance Committee 2

Work undertaken by the Committee 2

Internal audit - public sector internal audit standards 3

Service recovery 3

Financial reporting 3

External audit assurance 4

Gloucestershire County Fraud Unit update 5

Risk management 6

Other governance updates 6

Looking forward 7

Committee members 8

contents

58



1

Welcome to the
annual report of the
Audit and
Governance
Committee. Previous
years’ reports have
featured on the
impact of the Covid-
19 pandemic, both
on the committee
needing to meet
virtually and the
overall impact on the
council’s services. It

is positive to see us emerging from the pandemic
and returning to a sense of normality. In particular, it
is encouraging to see the internal audit team
operational again following the winding down of the
business cell as the administration of business
grants has come to an end. The lack of internal audit
activity has been picked up by our external auditors
when concluding their annual audit opinion and a
formal recommendation made. The work of the
internal audit team is the main source of assurance
that the committee relies upon, and I look forward to
receiving their audit reports during the course of the
year.

It would be remiss of me not to mention again the
work of the business cell who administered nearly
£32 million of business grants over the course of the
pandemic. A fantastic effort and much needed
financial support to our business community.
Despite the closedown of the business cell, a
number of officers from this cell are now in the
middle of administering the government’s ‘council
tax/energy rebate scheme’ – another monumental
effort to pay an estimated 32,000 of our residents,
the rebate of £150.  

The committee also receives assurance from our
external auditors, Grant Thornton. They provide an
opinion on the accuracy of the council’s statement
of accounts and on our general value for money
arrangements. In terms of the statement of
accounts, yet again, they provided a glowing
reference for the Finance team. Working in the main
remotely, with resources also deployed to the
business cell, together with the added complexity of
continually monitoring the budget and completing a
plethora of government returns as a result of the
pandemic they still produced an accurate set of
accounts, promptly. A remarkable achievement. 

Looking ahead, it will be refreshing to return to
normality. Face to face meetings recommenced
during the year, as mentioned the internal audit is
back active and the committee’s work programme is
extensive. There is a great opportunity for the
committee to support the council through its future
challenges as it emerges from the Covid-19 

Finally, I thank all the committee and officers for the
support they have provided me during the year.

Best wishes,
Councillor Vernon Smith

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

Councillor Vernon Smith

Message from the Chair of Audit and Governance Committee

59



2

The role of Audit and Governance Committee

The role of the committee is an important one. The key role is that of assurance. The committee needs to be
assured that the council’s risk, governance and internal control environment is operating effectively. Given the
council’s complexity of services, processes, procedures and policies, there will always be occasions where
improvements are required. Where these are identified, then the committee seeks assurance the necessary
improvements are monitored and implemented. The assurance provided to the committee comes from several
sources including internal audit, external audit, the finance team and the Counter Fraud and Enforcement Unit.  

Work undertaken by the Audit and Governance Committee

Annual Governance Statement (AGS)
It is a statutory requirement that the council publishes an AGS and the statement is approved by the committee.
In layman’s terms, the document reflects the state of play in relation to the council’s overall governance
arrangements and a review of these arrangements is undertaken by the internal Corporate Governance Group.
The AGS recognises improvements and initiatives made to the governance framework during the year. This is
not an exhaustive list and for 2021/22 these include: 

- Implementation of a new ‘Have Your Say’ (4 Cs) approach for our residents – compliments, comments, 
concerns and complaints. 

- Review and approval of governance related policies and strategies. For example, procurement strategy, 
social media policy, supporting attendance policy, proceeds of crime and anti-money laundering policy, 
environmental health and enforcement policy etc.  

- Implementation of service-related reviews such as Development Management and Licensing (with 
governance related work streams). 

- Undertaking of a Community Governance review.
- A management assurance report on how the internal control environment, risk and governance has been 

managed during the pandemic – presented at Audit and Governance Committee.
- A lessons-learnt report from the Covid-19 response – presented at Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
- On-going monitoring of the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan and strategic Council Plan.
- Undertaking of a residents’ survey. 

The AGS also identifies any significant governance issues arising. The committee then receives progress reports
on the resultant action plan. For 2020/21, the committee received updates on actions such as the recovery of
internal audit, administration of Discretionary Housing Payments, and implementation of the CIPFA Financial
Management Code. New actions arising from 2021/22 will form the basis on an updated action plan. 

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

60



Internal Audit - Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards

The work of internal audit is pivotal to the committee
receiving independent assurance on how well the
council’s internal control environment is operating.
All work of internal audit is governed by the Public
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). It is the
responsibility of the Chief Audit Executive (the head
of corporate services is the council’s designated 
CAE) to ensure compliance with these standards. 

As with 2020/21, for 2021/22, the impact of Covid-
19 led to factors outside of the control of the CAE to
ensure this compliance. The deployment of the
internal audit team to the business cell meant there
was no internal audit work undertaken during the
year. The team could therefore not demonstrate
compliance with the standards. The overall
deployment of the team, away from its normal work
activities was also identified within Grant Thornton’s
2020/21 annual report as a significant weakness
within the council’s governance arrangements. A
robust management response was issued explaining
the decision to deploy internal audit within the
business cell and this was supported by the
committee. 

Internal Audit team - recovery of
service

The recovery of the internal audit function is
reflected within the council’s corporate recovery plan
and at the time of writing the team is now
operational, which is positive news. Recovery actions
associated with the wider recovery of the team
include:

3

• The production of a new six-monthly audit plan 
that was approved by Audit and Governance 
Committee in March 2022.

• The production and approval of a new Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP).

• All outstanding recommendations made by 
internal audit have been reviewed and new 
implementation dates agreed with responsible 
officers. 

• For added resilience, to look at the feasibility of 
creating an apprentice position within the team. 

• For future audit planning, to undertake a 
complete risk assessment of the council’s 
internal control environment. 

• Additional resource to be deployed within the 
team for the second half of the year. 

Financial reporting

In addition to governance-related issues, finance is
an integral part of the committee’s remit. In relation
to financial matters, the committee has received and
considered the following reports: - 

• 21 July 2021 - A report from the head of finance 
and asset management on the fee for the audit 
of the 2021/22 accounts. Members were asked 
to consider the fee scale of £37,589. 

• 15 September 2021 - the committee approved 
the 2020/21 letter of representation. The letter 
formally and publicly confirms the accuracy and 
completeness of the presented statement of 
accounts. The letter sets out assurance from the
Council to Grant Thornton that relevant 
accounting standards have been complied with. 

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

61



4

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

It also gives assurance that the Council has 
disclosed information where to withhold it would
have undermined the accuracy and reliability of 
the statement of accounts.

• 15 September 2021 - the committee considered 
and approved the council’s statement of 
accounts. An excellent training session was held 
for committee members prior to the meeting to 
explain in layman’s terms the technical details of
the financial information. At the meeting itself it 
was explained in preparing the accounts, the 
pandemic brought about specific challenges, 
particularly around the continuation of grant 
schemes, business rate reliefs and other COVID-
19 related returns which added to the technical 
knowledge and resources needed within the 
accountancy team. The Finance team worked 
tirelessly throughout and even agreed to 
complete the accounts earlier than the 31 July 
2021 deadline to facilitate an early audit window 
for Grant Thornton. 

• 15 December 2021 - the committee considered 
and recommended to Council that the Public 
Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) invitation to 
‘opt-in’ to the sector-led national scheme for the 
appointment of external auditors for the five 
financial years commencing 1 April 2023 be 
accepted. This was subsequently approved by 
Council. 

• 24 March 2022 - committee approved the 
accounting policies to be used to prepare the 
2021/22 financial statements. The policies used 
comply with the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting. COVID-
19 has had a significant impact on the wider 
economy and the Council over the last year, 
impacting on the accounts production process 
but has not changed the accounting policies 
directly and the Council has continued to apply 
all policies in the same way.

• 24 March 2022 - the committee was presented 
with an assessment on how as a council we are 
complying with the CIPFA Financial 
Management Code. The code applies a principle-
based approach. It does not prescribe the 
financial management processes that local 
authorities should adopt. Instead, it requires that
a local authority demonstrates that its processes
satisfy the principles of good financial 
management for an authority of its size, 
responsibilities, and circumstances. The 
council’s external auditors will, from 2021/22, 
have regard to the code and will be looking to 
ensure that the council is meeting the 
requirements of the code. If compliance with the
code is not demonstrated, the council’s financial 
sustainability could be brought into question 
which in turn could result in a negative impact 
on its reputation with stakeholders. Committee 
was pleased that good progress is being made 
towards compliance and an annual update will 
be provided moving forward. 

External audit assurance

In addition to the work of internal audit, reliance on
how well the council is performing is given by the
council’s external auditors, Grant Thornton.
Management team and members of the committee
have an excellent and constructive relationship with
the Grant Thornton team. A summary of their
findings during the year were as follows; 

• On 21 July 2021, Grant Thornton presented their 
report ‘Informing the audit risk assessment for 
Tewkesbury Borough Council 2020/21’. The 
purpose of this report is to contribute towards 
the effective two-way communication between 
the council's external auditors and the council’s 
Audit Committee, as 'those charged with

62



5

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

governance'. The report covers some important
areas of the auditor risk assessment where they are
required to make inquiries of the Audit Committee
under auditing standards. The report includes a
series of questions on areas such as accounting
estimates, fraud arrangements, general management
overview etc and require a management response.
The committee considered these responses and
were satisfied they are consistent with its 
understanding of those arrangements. 

• At the same meeting as the above, Grant 
Thornton updated the committee on their audit 
planning process. Their report essentially 
provides an overview of the planned scope and 
timing of the statutory audit.  Following 
questions around the amount of the annual audit
fee, the length of the external assessment and 
pension liability the plan was noted. 

• The audit findings for year ended 31 March 2021
were presented to Audit and Governance 
Committee on 15 September 2021.  This was 
essentially an interim report, as all work had yet 
to be concluded. The report did confirm though 
the accuracy of the year-end financial 
statements and paid compliment to the excellent
engagement with the finance team who 
responded to queries and provided data 
promptly. The whole exercise was completed 
remotely, an excellent achievement from all 
parties. A final report was presented to 
committee in March 2022, which confirmed an 
‘unqualified opinion’ i.e. positive outcome on the 
financial statements. Several recommendations 
were made in relation to the council’s ‘value for 
money assessment’. As highlighted previously, 
the lack of internal audit work was deemed a 
significant governance issue and there was a 
recommendation around the arrangements for 
securing financial sustainability into the medium 
term. Work has already started on their 
implementation, which is positive news. 

Committee also receives progress reports on its work
programme and this includes sector updates. With
regards to the latter, this provides useful research
and reading material on such issues as climate
change, cyber security, Covid-19 recovery etc. With
regards to cyber security, an intended presentation to
committee was extended to all members. This was
well received and expressed the importance for all to
understand the risks and challenges this presents to
the council. 

Counter Fraud Unit and
Enforcement (CFEU) update

The committee receives a six-month update on the
work of the unit, from the head of service. The CFEU
works directly on behalf of all the Gloucestershire
authorities, West Oxfordshire District Council and
other public sector bodies such as Cheltenham
Borough Homes. The updates included: 

• Supporting work streams relating to the COVID-
19 pandemic by providing advice relating to fraud
risk and abuse, most significantly in relation to 
business grants.

• A completed review of the Housing List.
• Processing and investigation of cases identified 

through the National Fraud Initiative. 
• General fraud referral work.
• The unit is also pivotal to the effectiveness of the

policy framework and during the year has 
presented updated policies on proceeds of crime 
and anti-money laundering policy and use of the 
internet and social media in investigations and 
enforcement policy. The CFEU also support the 
council in complying with the government’s 
serious and organised crime checklist.

. 

63



6

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

Risk management  

At each committee, the corporate risk register is
considered. The register is a useful tool to evidence
that corporate risks are evaluated and managed.
There is no statutory requirement to have a register,
but it is seen as good practice and supports the
committee to fulfil its risk management
responsibilities. During the year, members of the
committee have sought assurance that the risks are
being managed effectively. There have been
numerous questions, particularly on; cyber security,
climate change, garden town, waste transfer station
and financial sustainability, plus members putting
forward other risks for inclusion such as the
improvements to the Development Management
review and lack of a five-year land supply. Overall, the
reporting of the register has generated good
discussion and debate and is a welcomed document. 

Other governance updates

Health and Safety Annual Report 

Members were provided with a summary of the
activities carried out to secure health and safety
compliance in the financial years 2019/20 and
2020/21m and were asked to consider the adequacy
of the council’s health and safety arrangements. The
head of community services explained that COVID-19
meant it had not been possible to present this report
to the committee during the previous year, therefore,
the current report covered a two year period.  A
significant number of risk assessments in relation to
COVID-19 had taken place over the period and these
were detailed within the report. These included
assessments on emergency rest centres, polling
stations for elections and significantly, on the return
to the offices and the safe re-opening of council
buildings.    

Members were pleased to hear about the support
given to staff during the pandemic, in particular on
mental health.  Before the pandemic, a lot of work had
been done around mental health and the council had
been given a Workforce Wellbeing Charter
accreditation where it had been evaluated as
‘excellent’ in five of eight workstreams, one of which
was mental health. During the pandemic, this good
foundation has been built upon. For example, a range
of mental health training has been provided over the
last 18 months, a wellbeing zone created on the
intranet, and regular staff ‘pulse’ surveys carried out
etc. Overall, the committee felt the approach was very
positive and wished to thank the staff on behalf of the
committee for their hard work and effort during the
pandemic. The committee felt strongly that it was so
important to look after staff as much as possible,
even more so in the unprecedented circumstances
brought about by the pandemic which continued to
prevail.

Annual Safeguarding Update 

The annual report was presented to members to give
assurance on the level of the council’s compliance
with its safeguarding duty and to note the Section 11
self-assessment submission to the external
assurance panel. The Section 11 process is a
statutory requirement and focuses upon four areas:
leadership and accountability; safe recruitment,
induction, training and development, safeguarding
policies and procedures, and listening to children and
young people. The head of community services
confirmed he had attended the panel on 16 November
2021 where he had been questioned in relation to the
content of the council’s submission and was pleased
to report that no issues had been identified.  

Attention was drawn to the part of the report which
set out that 14 safeguarding cases had been raised
internally during 2020/21: 

64



- Two needed to be referred to social care
- Two had been dealt with in partnership with the 

neighbourhood policing team
- Two multi-agency meetings had been called by the

council in light of the concerns raised
- Four cases had become ongoing child protection 

cases which had been attended by a member of 
staff to advise from the council’s perspective.  

The cases raised came from a good cross-section of
council departments which demonstrated that officers
had a good understanding of their safeguarding
responsibilities.

Data Protection Officer’s Annual Report 

The report provided details of actions undertaken
during the year to ensure broad compliance with the
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).  This
included a lot of work around staff communications,
particularly in terms of preventing and reporting data
breaches. It was noted there had been 20 recorded
breaches during the year, of which 19 were categorised
as low risk and one as medium risk.  In addition, an e-
learning platform has been rolled out to staff and
training provided on the importance of retention and
redaction of information. Given the council’s
transformation ambitions and associated projects,
significant support has been given on the formulation
of Data Protection Impact Assessments. For example,
COVID-19 grant support schemes, digital recruitment,
HR self-service, Land Registry migration, new digital
platform, and paperless billing. 

The report also provided an overview of the excellent
work of the Business Transformation Team. The team
has developed a management system for logging and
responding to data requests from residents. These are
increasing in number with 64 received over the last
year.  Moving forward into 2022, work will be focussed
on activities such as the implementation of the new
website project; implementation of an information

classification project; undertaking a review of key
policies such as the overarching Data Protection Policy
and providing support to ICT related policies e.g. cyber
security; and, for the internal audit team to assess
whether lessons learnt with regard to breaches were
implemented and test that data was being retained in
accordance with the corporate retention policy. 

The borough solicitor explained that ensuring
compliance with data protection requirements was a
continuous process and having a single point of
contact through the Internal Audit and GDPR officer
had been invaluable in securing and monitoring the
council’s development and compliance.  The council’s
record of breaches was low and none had been
categorised as high risk but it was important to ensure
that the arrangements were kept under review and that
the action plan was delivered in order to ensure
continued compliance.  It was an officer view the
action plan was robust and the council was doing the
very best it could. The report was noted. 

Looking forward 

It certainly looks like a case of onward and upwards as
we continue our recovery from the pandemic. As I did
last year, I would personally like to thank all those
officers involved within the administration of business
grants as this has been a significant and prolonged
piece of work. In addition, it will be fantastic to have
the internal audit team back up and running and
support the committee in gaining assurance that our
policies, procedures, systems remain as effective post-
Covid-19 as they did prior to the pandemic

7Audit and Governance Committee annual report

Tewkesbury Borough Council

65



8

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Audit and Governance Committee annual report

2021/22 Audit and Governance Committee members

Cllr Louise Gerrard

(Member until

September 2021)

Cllr Pauline Godwin Cllr Heather McLain

VICE-CHAIR

Cllr Helen Munro

Cllr Cate Cody

Cllr Paul McLain Cllr Mike Sztymiak 

LEAD MEMBER

Cllr Paul Smith Cllr Vernon Smith

CHAIR

Cllr David Gray

66



Produced by Tewkesbury Borough Council. 2022

Alistair Cunningham

Chief Executive

Tewkesbury Borough Council

67


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Council Minutes 8 June 2022 Extraordinary FINAL

	7a Interim Medium Term Financial Strategy
	Interim Medium Term Financial Strategy Appendix A, 01/06/2022 Executive

	7b Council Plan 2020/24 Refresh
	Council Plan Year 3 - 2022, 01/06/2022 Executive

	8 Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report 2021/22



